UNIVERSITY OF PAVIA – IUSS SCHOOL FOR ADVANCED STUDIES PAVIA

Department of Brain and Behavioral Sciences (DBBS) MSc in Psychology, Neuroscience and Human Sciences



Increasingly Coordinated: Propensity for Cooperation and Aversion to Competition in Children, Adolescents and Young Adults

Supervisors: Prof. Gabriele Chierchia

Prof. Serena Lecce

Thesis written by Elvis Kurtisi

Academic year 2023/2024

Contents

| Abstract4 | | |
|---------------------------------------|----------------------|--|
| 1. Introduction | 6 | |
| 1.1 Coordination and Socio-Cognitiv | ve Development | |
| 1.2 Adolescent Development | | |
| 1.2.1 Brain Development | | |
| 1.2.2 Cognitive Development | | |
| 1.2.3 Social Development | | |
| 1.2.4 Adolescence as a Sensitive Pe | riod | |
| 1.3 Strategic Development | | |
| 1.4 Coordination Games | | |
| 2. Methods | | |
| 2.1. Participants | | |
| 2.2. Materials | | |
| 2.2.1. Coordination Games: Coopera | tion Vs. Competition | |
| 2.2.2. Lottery | | |
| 2.2.3. Game Comprehension | | |
| 2.2.4. Self-Referential Vs. Other-Ori | ented Strategies 44 | |
| 2.2.5. Reasoning Ability | | |
| 2.3. Measures | | |
| 2.3.1. Coordination Games and Lotte | ery | |
| 2.4. Procedure | | |
| 2.5. Statistical Analysis | | |
| 3. Results | | |
| 3.1. Descriptive Statistics | | |
| 3.2. Age-Related Differences in Strat | egic Ability 54 | |
| 3.2.1. Risk | | |
| 3.2.2. Switching | | |

| | 3.2.3. | Response Times 55 |
|----|---------------|---|
| 3 | 3.3. And Non | Age-Related Differences in Game Comprehension, Other-oriented Thinking n-Verbal Reasoning and Their Effect on Coordination Abilities |
| 4. | Discu | ssion61 |
| Z | 4.1. I | Propensity for Cooperation and Aversion to Competition in Adolescence 61 |
| Ζ | 4.2. 1 | Possible Explanations for Age Differences in Coordination |
| Ζ | 4.3. <i>I</i> | Adolescence and Risk: Between Impulsivity and Strategy |
| 2 | 1.4. | Adolescence as a Sensitive Age for The Development of Strategic Abilities 69 |
| 5. | Limit | ations71 |
| 6. | Conc | lusion73 |
| 7. | Appe | ndices73 |
| 8. | Biblic | ography74 |

Abstract

Adolescence is an age of social re-orientation during which developing socio-cognitive skills allow people to better coordinate their behavior to their social environment, such as to different interaction partners. Little is known, however, about the development of coordination abilities in different strategic environments during this age. To fill this gap, we used game theoretic paradigms to investigate if, during adolescence, people improve in their ability to distinguish between cooperative and competitive environments. N=596participants between the ages of 9 and 48, of which 150 children (9-11-year-olds), 147 adolescents (12-15) and 299 adults (18-48), coordinated their choices with an anonymous peer without communicating and without feedback from previous outcomes, thus based only on the commonly visible incentives. Each game involved a series of choices between two options: a low-paying but sure option (e.g., 4 coins), and a potentially high-paying but uncertain option (15 coins or 0). In a cooperative condition, the maximum payoff of 15 was obtained if both players chose the uncertain option; conversely, in the competitive condition, the maximum payoff was obtained only if one player chose the uncertain option and the other did not, and if both players chose the uncertain option both obtained nothing. Finally, in a non-social control condition, the unsure payoff was obtained based on a random lottery draw. Participants of all ages chose the uncertain option more frequently in the cooperative environment relative to competitive one, and this propensity for cooperation increased during adolescence. Adults also showed greater choice variability and longer response times in the competitive condition relative to the cooperative condition. This aversion to competition was not observed in children and was only partly observed in adolescents. Age-related differences in aversion to competition but not propensity for cooperation, were partly explained by age-related improvements in

non-verbal reasoning. These findings demonstrate that coordination abilities improve during adolescence and that this is determined by an adolescent developing propensity for cooperation and an adolescent emergent aversion to competition.

Keywords: Adolescence, Coordination, Cooperation, Competition, Strategy

1. Introduction

1.1 Coordination and Socio-Cognitive Development

Coordinating with others is a complex decision-making process which takes place on a larger scale in humans compared to other species (Raihani, 2021) and is considered to be an important evolutionary trait underlying many achievements of humankind (Melis, 2013). In some cases, coordination can involve cooperation, from simple daily displays of kindness or law obedience to larger-scale efforts involving projects such as developing new treatment, starting a workplace union or winning a championship, all of which involve working towards a common goal. In other cases, coordination can involve competition, as it happens when shopping for groceries during early or late hours, in the hope of avoiding the rush.

Coordination involves capabilities which are generally more refined in humans compared to other species, specifically cognitive and social abilities (Herrmann et al., 2007; Langdon, 2022; Tomasello, 2022). To coordinate with others, people need to both understand what the best course of action might be in the given circumstance, and guess what others might do based on previous social interactions and additional beliefs. This requires social and cognitive abilities that undergo gradual improvement and increase in complexity not only during childhood, but also during adolescence (e.g., Beauchamp & Anderson, 2010; Chierchia et al., 2019; Hartung et al., 2020; Symeonidou et al., 2016). Indeed, recent literature has shown that, during adolescence, people become increasingly better at tuning their decision making to the type of person they are interacting, cooperating more with trustworthy vs. untrustworthy interaction partners or friends vs. strangers (Chierchia, Tufano, et al., 2020; Sijtsma et al., 2023; Westhoff et al., 2020). This suggests that, during adolescence, people increasingly use the social context (i.e., information about their interaction partners) to navigate social decision making. However, it is unclear if, during adolescence, people also become better at distinguishing between different strategic contexts requiring coordination, that is, if their strategic ability improves.

In contrast to social contexts that are defined by interaction partners, strategic contexts are defined by the incentives of a social decision-making problem. In some strategic contexts, or, as called in game theory, "games", the incentives can foster cooperation, in others they can foster competition (C. F. Camerer, 2003; C. F. Camerer & Fehr, 2006). Previous experimental literature has shown that adults efficiently change their decision strategies when passing between cooperative and competitive decision contexts (Chierchia et al., 2018). However, the developmental trajectories of cooperative and competitive coordination abilities are still unknown. During development, when do people begin to distinguish between cooperation and competition, or between games against other people and non-social games?

Considering the strong involvement of social and cognitive factors in coordination, since it entails strategic interactions between individuals, we can look for a possible emergence of coordination abilities during adolescence, where these abilities are becoming increasingly sophisticated. Indeed, adolescence has been recently shifting from being perceived as an age of mostly "storm and stress" (Buchanan & Bruton, 2016; Buchanan & Hughes, 2009) and increased sensation-seeking (Steinberg et al., 2018), to being viewed as a period of protracted neural, and perhaps an even sensitive or critical period (Fuhrmann et al., 2015), for social and cognitive development (Hartung et al., 2020).

1.2 Adolescent Development

1.2.1 Brain Development

Before technological and methodological advancements, it was generally believed that brain development was largely complete by the end of childhood (Konrad et al., 2013; Mason, 2009). However, over twenty years of neuroimaging have led to a revision of this belief. Indeed, although the first years of life are the time wherein changes in the brain are at their fastest rates (Bethlehem et al., 2022), large-scale and cross-cultural studies have shown that adolescence is also a period of marked brain changes (Bethlehem et al., 2022; Mills et al., 2016). This protracted neuroplasticity has been demonstrated with generalized decrease in grey matter volume, increase in white matter volume (Bethlehem et al., 2022; Lebel & Beaulieu, 2011; Mills et al., 2016), protracted myelination (Grydeland et al., 2019), axonal growth (Genc et al., 2023; Paus, 2010), pruning (i.e., gradual elimination of extra synapses and reduction of dendritic density; Santos & Noggle, 2011). From a functional connectivity perspective, instead, we can also find the consolidation of long-range connections and weakening of short-range ones, related perhaps to greater processing efficiency (Ernst et al., 2015).

All the aforementioned brain changes occur in a heterochronic fashion, which means that different areas undergo development at different rates and stages (rather than all changing at the same time), in terms of grey matter thinning (Tamnes et al., 2017), myelinization (related to white matter increase; Grydeland et al., 2019) and pruning (Huttenlocher & Dabholkar, 1997). Furthermore, Grydeland et al. (2019) found a bimodal distribution of peak white matter growth, comprising an early wave of primary sensory and motor cortices increase during childhood, and a post-puberal wave of association, limbic and insular cortices (related to social and cognitive abilities), increasing during late adolescence.

Importantly, several of the age-related changes in brain structure and function have been linked with pubertal hormones, as well as with changes in the environment, which are fairly concentrated during adolescence (Adolescence, 2011; Morningstar et al., 2019). Additionally, several brain measures reach their peak at this age, such as subcortical and total cerebrum volume, but perhaps even more interestingly we can also find a peak in variability towards the end of adolescence in white and subcortical grey matter volume (Bethlehem et al., 2022). This suggests that adolescence is also the age where we find peak individual differences in brain structure, i.e., the moment in our life span when our brains differ between each other.

Ultimately, these findings suggest that brain development is far from concluded by the end of childhood, but instead continues markedly throughout adolescence, further suggesting that this is a sensitive age for cognitive and social development (Bethlehem et al., 2022).

1.2.2 Cognitive Development

The various changes in the brain occur in parallel with the development of cognitive abilities, many of which have been shown to improve linearly or asymptotically (Hartung et al., 2020; Tamnes et al., 2010), and perhaps become increasingly differentiated towards adulthood (Hartung et al., 2020). For example, continued improvement of executive functions (EFs; e.g., updating, inhibition, shifting) have been associated with grey matter thinning of different brain areas during adolescence (Tamnes et al., 2010), and these function-structure associations have sometimes been especially observed in younger people (e.g., younger than 30) compared to adults (Krogsrud et al., 2021). Indeed, the relationship between cognitive abilities and brain changes seems to depend on age, seeing as a study by Wendelken and colleagues (2017) showed that structural connectivity seems to predict changes in reasoning ability only in people younger than 11, while it predicts functional connectivity changes over and above age. In certain cases, brain activity has been shown to better predict performance changes in cognitive tasks rather than structural changes. For example, one study (Dumontheil, Apperly, et al., 2010) showed that agerelated improvements in cognitive were related to decreased brain activity, pointing towards an increase in efficiency with age. However, one review by Crone and Dahl (2012) found a mixed picture, with adolescents displaying higher variability of activation depending on the investigated areas. This might suggest higher flexibility in employing executive functions, as well as less automaticity during adolescence compared to later ages.

The aforementioned studies delved into changes in cognitive abilities in relation to age, but did not directly assess improvements in terms of learning capabilities. Indeed, adolescence also represents a period of greater improvement rates following training sessions for certain cognitive skills (e.g., relational reasoning) compared to earlier stages (Knoll et al., 2016), hinting at heightened plasticity during this time. Possibly in support of Hartung and colleagues' findings (2020), these improvements were not the same in magnitude for the various non-verbal reasoning skills trained during the experiment (e.g., improvement in relational reasoning but not as much in face-perception performance), which further suggests increasing differentiation of cognitive abilities as well as sensitivity to train them.

As for cognitive development in general, these findings point to an overall asymptotic/linear increase in executive function and related abilities (Hartung et al., 2020), with less consensus regarding how this development is related to brain changes (Crone & Dahl, 2012; Dumontheil, Hassan, et al., 2010; Krogsrud et al., 2021), although we can argue that such connection between cognitive abilities and neurophysiological changes seems to be fairly noticeable in adolescence. In addition, we can find heightened learning capability for non-verbal reasoning and increased exploratory tendencies when making choices in unfamiliar environments (Chierchia et al., 2023; Knoll et al., 2016).

1.2.3 Social Development

The aforementioned changes in adolescence occur during a period where the amount of time spent interacting with peers increases, along with importance attributed to them, while time spent with parents decreases (Crone & Dahl, 2012). Most likely, those cognitive abilities develop not simply to solve individual problems, but also social ones (Choudhury et al., 2006). That is why, when investigating coordination abilities during adolescence, it is important to consider social cognition (Blakemore & Choudhury, 2006). Indeed, this period sees the improvement of adolescents' social skills as well, not only thanks to neurobiological and cognitive changes, but also because they might need those skills in order to integrate into society and manage new challenges (Alderman et al., 2019; Kelsey & Simons, 2014).

Arguably, one of the most important abilities regarding social cognition is Theory of Mind (ToM), i.e., our ability to infer (therefore guess, rather than know) other people's mental states in the attempt to predict and explain their behavior (Premack & Woodruff, 1978). The use of traditional paradigms such as false-belief tasks to assess ToM performance at different ages has often led to the argument that ToM reaches ceiling during childhood (Surian et al., 2007; Wellman et al., 2001), however recent findings on adolescence social development point towards a different direction. Also intuitively, considering the numerous aforementioned arguments in favor of a protracted cognitive and brain development during adolescence, it would be reasonable to hypothesize that something similar happens for abilities regarding social cognition, since many of those brain areas and functions are related to ToM (Aboulafia-Brakha et al., 2011; Pellicano, 2007). This network of brain regions involved in ToM, or mentalizing is referred to as the "social brain" (Blakemore, 2008). Indeed, by employing a task requiring on-line use of mentalizing abilities, Dumontheil et al. (2010), and Symeonidou et al. (2016), among others, have found that ToM continues to develop in late adolescence, without reaching a ceiling in late childhood. This "Director Task" (Keysar et al., 2000) required participants to actively take the perspective of a fictional director to follow specific instructions, and indeed the authors found a significant improvement of task accuracy between adolescence and adulthood, even when accounting for executive functions. In addition, Klindt and colleagues' (2017) vast web pool of social cognitive skills (measured by a variety of tasks) has shown that "over the lifespan, people may rely upon distinct cognitive architectures when reading others' minds", suggesting that as people age, they might rely on more controlled cognitive processes in mentalizing. This might tell us that during adolescence ToM might not simply be increasing, but it could also progressively rely more on effortful and controlled neurocognitive components, and less on automatic processes, which are prevalent in childhood.

Another significant aspect of social development, that is also related to ToM, is how we behave prosocially towards another person (Caputi et al., 2012), but perhaps more importantly how we adjust prosocial tendencies based on who that person is. Indeed, as briefly mentioned above, adolescents are increasingly able to distinguish between social contexts, especially in prosocial behavior. For example, during adolescence, people increasingly donate more to friends compared to strangers (Güroğlu et al., 2014; Padilla-Walker et al., 2015; van de Groep et al., 2022), something which Güroğlu and colleagues (2014) found to be mediated by (self-reported) perspective taking skills. Similarly, Tamnes et al., (2018) found an association between perspective taking as measured by the director task and self-reported prosocial behavior, together with an additional association between perspective taking and cortical thinning in regions related to social cognition and executive functioning, further suggesting the link between brain development and mentalizing abilities. This frequent association between perspective taking and prosocial behavior has often been intuitively accompanied by a further motivation to help someone (Warneken & Tomasello, 2006), also referred to as empathic concern. Indeed, it would be reasonable to assume that helping someone else would first require understanding that person's desires, intentions and perspective, as well as being emotionally involved and motivated to lend a hand. In this regard, empathy has been found to increase during adolescence (Allemand et al., 2015) and to predict individual differences in self-reported social competencies (e.g., communication skills) later in adulthood, highlighting a connection between empathy and other social skills.

Perspective taking skills are not only related to how generous we are with friends or strangers, but also with other abilities such as conflict resolution (Gutenbrunner & Wagner, 2016). Indeed, this ability continues its developmental trajectory in adolescence, given that adolescents increasingly employ negotiation as a peer conflict resolution strategies (compromise and third-party mediation), rather than being coercive or disengaging, i.e., withdrawing from conflict (Laursen et al., 2001), hinting at better cooperative attitudes towards peers. Furthermore, conflict resolution skills are related to the broader concept of social competence (Akgun & Araz, 2014), generally defined as how an individual affiliates with other people and forms close relationships (Burt et al., 2008). Social competence has been found to have an impact on psychological well-being, especially during adolescence, given that Gómez-López et al. (2022) have found a longitudinal association between increases in social competence and psychological wellbeing from early to late adolescence, which also extends to young adulthood (Romppanen et al., 2021). Ultimately, from these findings we can gather that many social skills, including mentalizing skills continue to develop during adolescence (Dumontheil, Apperly, et al., 2010; Symeonidou et al., 2016), in parallel with changes in the social brain (Tamnes et al., 2018). These improvements are sometimes related to increasingly differentiated prosociality towards different interaction partners (Fett et al., 2014). Just as importantly, adolescents' conflict management skills become more similar to those of adults (Laursen et al., 2001), paralleled by an increase of complexity in social competence (Englund et al., 2000) and its association to psychological well-being.

1.2.4 Adolescence as a Sensitive Period

Up to this point adolescence has been broadly framed as a period of change, during which we can observe protracted development of neurophysiological characteristics (Bethlehem et al., 2022), as well as socio-cognitive abilities (Kilford et al., 2016). It could seem that adolescents are similar to children and adults in many domains (e.g., cognitive), only more developed compared to the former, and less to the latter. However, further research has additionally framed adolescence as a unique life stage, suggesting that it could represent a sensitive or even critical period of development (Fuhrmann et al., 2015). Indeed, some evidence does support this assumption.

Starting with changes in the brain, animal studies have shown that some aspects of brain plasticity could be unique in adolescence. Long-distance dopamine axon growth (Hoops & Flores, 2017), as well as an increase in dopamine innervation and concentration, have been specifically linked with adolescence (Larsen & Luna, 2018), and have been suggested to potentially underlie certain types of behavior that also peak during adolescence, relative to both children and adults. For example, Steinberg and colleagues (2018) have highlighted a cross-cultural peak of sensation-seeking towards the end of human adolescence, contrasted by the still developing self-regulation, which plateaus later during young adulthood.

Furthermore, Larsen and Luna (2018) have found correspondence in mice between mechanisms driving early sensory development during critical periods in childhood and those behind neurobiological and cognitive development in adolescence, thus suggesting a re-opening of critical period plasticity. This is in line with what transpires from Petanjek and colleagues' study (2011), who found that synaptic pruning continues during adolescence, and especially in the prefrontal cortex (Huttenlocher & Dabholkar, 1997), which is related to cognitive development.

During a time where cognitive abilities are still developing, adolescents seem to be showing heightened reward sensitivity in the ventral striatum, a region involved into reward processing, (Galván, 2013; Schreuders et al., 2018) something which dual systems (Steinberg et al., 2018) or maturational imbalance models (Casey et al., 2008) have considered to be a possible explanation for a variety of maladaptive behavior. Indeed adolescents are often associated with activities such as substance abuse, vandalism and general disregard of their own and others' safety, which are frequently grouped under broader category of sensation-seeking risky behavior (Defoe et al., 2022; Telzer et al., 2022; Zhang, 2022).

Interestingly, a common denominator of risky behavior across adolescence, which is more infrequent in other ages, is the presence of peers. Indeed, compared to adults, adolescents are more likely to risk in the presence of peers in simulated driving tasks, as well as focus more on the benefits rather than costs of risky behavior compared to being alone (Gardner & Steinberg, 2005). With the same task, Centifanti and colleagues (2016) found that adolescents were more likely to take a risk both when in presence of passengers who liked risk and encouraged to take a chance, and when passengers with risk preferences did not interact with them (passive influence), although to a lesser degree. Furthermore, Chein and colleagues (2011) found that the presence of peers while risking was also associated with a heightened reward system activation (ventral striatum) and decreased cognitive control (lateral prefrontal cortex) compared to being alone: this increased social reward sensitivity in turn predicted lesser resistance to peer influence.

Although these results are compelling, they do not address how preferences and choices of other peers, instead of merely their presence, could influence decisions during adolescence. Indeed social influence increases during adolescence (Sumter et al., 2009), highlighting how adolescents place great importance to how they are perceived by their peers. Accordingly, they are affected by social isolation to a greater extent compared to adults, both emotionally, meaning greater disappointment (Sebastian et al., 2010), and cognitively to a certain degree, in terms of reduced verbal working memory performance (Fuhrmann et al., 2019). In terms of preferences, young adolescents are more likely to change their perception of risk in the direction of other adolescents' responses, while younger and older participants are more influenceable by adults (Knoll et al., 2015), showing that adolescents value their peers' views over those of grown-ups. Traditionally, findings regarding peer influence during adolescence have been interpreted as maladaptive and linked to more impulsive behavior, thus favoring models of maturational imbalance (Casey et al., 2008). This framing of adolescence seems in line with a conceptualization of adolescence as an age of "storm and stress" (Buchanan & Bruton, 2016; Buchanan & Hughes, 2009). For example, heightened social influence during adolescence could lead to maladaptive forms of sensation-seeking, thus to unsafe behavior (Goldstick Jason E. et al., 2022). In this sense, social influence might represent an issue that is especially prominent during adolescence.

In contrast, recent studies are showing that heightened social influence during adolescence might be a developmental feature of adolescence, not a "bug", meaning that many previous findings might have focused on the downsides of some generally adaptive (and perhaps fundamental) developmental process. Indeed, Reiter and colleagues (Reiter et al., 2019, 2021) have highlighted how adolescents might be more susceptible to other peers' decisions for the purpose of reducing their own uncertainty, thus learning more about themselves by learning about others. For example, they found that the choices adolescents made after observing the choices of their peers were associated with longer response times (2019), suggesting that peer influence may not always be impulsive, but effortful. In the same study, adolescents who were more influenced by their peers were shown to also be better at predicting the preferences of their peers, something that could be very helpful to navigate peer environments. In line with this, the two studies by Reiter and colleagues found that susceptibility to social influence during adolescence is related to social integration, also longitudinally. Similarly, using agent-based modelling, Ciranka & van den Bos (2021) have illustrated how those frequent patterns of peak risk-taking during adolescence might stem not from a motivational drive of sensation seeking, but from a need to learn from others following changes in the environment, which might also help them reduce losses in the future. They also discussed the importance of exploratory behavior during this age, in relation to learning from others, and how this tendency to explore novel environments (thus take risks) may also give rise to the typical inverted-U shapes found in adolescence (e.g., sensation-seeking).

Finally, heightened social influence during adolescence might also raise opportunities for prosocial behavior. For example, adolescents have been shown to be more likely than adults to engage in charitable donations if they see other peers doing the same (Chierchia, Piera Pi-Sunyer, et al., 2020). In the same prosocial influence task, adolescents also took longer to decide when prosocially influenced, but not when conforming to a selfish peer.

Overall, these studies are more aligned with a different theory of adolescent development, the Life-span Wisdom Model (Romer et al., 2017), which argues in favor

of the existence of risk-taking behavior more directed towards learning and exploration, instead of only impulsivity, which peaks during adolescence not because of a motivational craving for risk, but rather a need to venture into new contexts which, given the unfamiliarity, require bolder behavior. This increase in risky behavior, moreover, is paralleled by continuous development of cognitive abilities (also considering increased response times previously mentioned), which interact with exploratory tendencies and thus contribute to generating wisdom throughout life. Ultimately, our adult self might benefit from the risky decisions of adolescent self.

Heightened social influence during adolescence corroborates the idea that adolescence might be a sensitive period for social development, during which social experiences might play a particularly important role in social development. Intriguingly, animal studies have also corroborated this notion. For example, one study showed heightened alcohol consumption by juvenile mice in the presence of peers, compared to adult mice (Logue et al., 2014).Further, studies have shown that social deprivation can lead to heightened negative consequences on brain and behavioral development if it occurs during adolescence, compared to other ages (Orben et al., 2020). In addition, more than half of all psychological disorders, such as schizophrenia, anxiety, eating and mood disorders are first diagnosed during adolescence (Paus et al., 2008; Solmi et al., 2022).

Taken together, these studies suggest that childhood might not represent the end of the line for critical development, but rather a "window of opportunity" which re-opens during adolescence (Fuhrmann et al., 2015; Larsen & Luna, 2018).

1.3 Strategic Development

Adolescence is also an age where people make consequential choices for the first time in their lives outside of a family circle and into a peer-focused environment, while obtaining increasing autonomy and the accompanying responsibility (Boyden et al., 2019; Zimmer-Gembeck & Collins, 2006). Consequently, decision-making abilities in relation to changes of context start gaining even more relevance than before. Furthermore, as an age of social re-orientation, peer interactions become progressively more important than interactions with caregivers during adolescence, with peers being perhaps less forgiving than parents. In line with this, adolescents have been suggested to start grasping how the outcomes of certain decisions depend not only on their intentions, but on those of their peers as well (Crone & Fuligni, 2020). With this, adolescents also start experiencing how sometimes individual goals can overlap with collective ones, and in other cases be at odds, thus realizing how obtaining what they want within a social environment is more complex compared to being on their own.

These changes are fundamental in the development of strategic social behavior (Güroğlu et al., 2009; Steinbeis et al., 2012), which can bridge the gap between self- and other-interest and in general facilitate navigation through new social contexts. Accordingly, social re-orientation might also involve an increasing need to be strategic in social interactions with peers, whereas the same ability might not be as prevalent in interactions with caregivers. In other words, since adolescents spend more time with their peers and give increasing weight to what they do or say, they might increasingly keep in mind the preferences of others, particularly their peers, when interacting with them, thus becoming more strategic.

In investigating the development of strategic social behavior, game theory can be an invaluable resource, since it provides "general mathematical techniques for situations in which two or more individuals make decisions that will influence one another's welfare", both in terms of conflict and cooperation (Myerson, 1991). Game theory has classically approached decision-making of agents by giving little or no space to social or emotional factors and individual differences, in favor of logical thought-processes, thus without tapping into "the richness of the psychological world" (Krueger et al., 2020). Critically, predictions based on this purely mathematical approach have been disproven many times by empirical observation of people's decision making in laboratory experiments (C. F. Camerer, 2003; Henrich et al., 2005).

At the cost of lower controllability, the more recent discipline of behavioral game theory seeks to integrate psycho-social factors, with the advantages and disadvantages that they bring, to purely cognitive ones in investigating social decision-making (Bonau, 2017; Gintis, 2011). This approach allows the generation of mathematical models which could ideally predict people's decisions in specific situations, all the while being open to falsification and thus updating based on actual behavior and its psychological underpinnings (Fehr & Schmidt, 1999; Sanfey, 2007). Indeed, behavioral game theory applied to developmental psychology is able to offer new methodologies aimed at investigating social decisions (Gummerum et al., 2008). These tasks aim to capture the core strategic aspects of frequent social dilemmas in psychological and, more generally, biological research (Archetti & Scheuring, 2012; Beckenkamp, 2006), such as the prisoner's dilemma (Rapoport & Chammah, 1965). One of the ideas behind this approach

dilemmas, in order to profit from them, and generally gain from social interactions (Dawes, 1992). In other words, our ability to engage with these dilemmas is not simply a by-product of our cognitive and social evolution, but rather the emergence of such problems might have partly promoted our socio-cognitive development in order to approach them more effectively.

To investigate the potential developments of strategic social behavior during adolescence, various components of strategic interactions have been investigated through a behavioral game theoretic approach. Fett and colleagues (2014), using the trust game paradigm, found that adolescents with higher perspective taking abilities showed higher levels of default trust towards others by entrusting their resources, but also that they displayed increased sensitivity to perceived unfairness when the trust was broken, thus exhibiting more strategic behavior when learning who to trust or not trust based on repeated interactions.. Sijtsma et al. (2023) found similar results with a longitudinal design, with an increasing initial trust with age, but also increasingly adaptive trusting, i.e., investing mostly on trustworthy counterparts, which (in girls) was in turn related to perspective taking abilities. Similarly, adolescents were shown to be increasingly sensitive to the intentions of their counterparts, not just their actual choices, reciprocating prosocial actions more when these were intentional (van den Bos et al., 2011). These higher levels of trust were in turn associated with greater activity in brain areas involved in mentalizing and executive functions, which increased with age, once again showing a behavioral and neurobiological shift towards other-oriented thinking in adolescence.

Using a variant of the "ultimatum game", in which participants had access to the proposer's choice alternatives, thus better allowing to infer their intentions, Sul et al. (2017) further managed to differentiate between inequity aversion (classically displayed

in the ultimatum game by refusing unfair offers) and reciprocity. They found that with increasing age people were more willing to accept disadvantageous offers when the proposer had no better option, compared to having the possibility to offer more, even if the offer was the same. This effect of age on reciprocity was further mediated by cortical thinning in mentalizing areas, again suggesting a growing association between increasing strategic behavior (accepting any amount when no alternative is possible) and brain development associated with social cognition.

Furthermore, we can detect an increase of strategic use of social cues not only in reciprocating trust and generally understanding intentions, but also prosocial behavior, since we already discussed that adolescents tend to donate more to friends compared to strangers (Güroğlu et al., 2014; Padilla-Walker et al., 2015). Arguably this result can be interpreted as strategic because ultimately friends are more likely to reciprocate generous behavior, which enables a virtuous cycle benefitting not only the receiver, but also the donor. Indeed, adolescents are not only becoming increasingly specific in their generosity, but also growing to be more mindful of their own resources, by choosing to give lesser amounts when forced to be parted with big sums, but greater amounts when choosing among smaller quantities (van de Groep et al., 2022), thus suggesting greater cost-benefit consideration in their choices on top of higher context-dependency of giving. In addition to higher reciprocity towards trustworthy individuals, adolescents are also increasingly sensitive to violations of social norms such as fairness, as shown by increasingly proportionate third party punishment of offenders, based on the severity of their violation (Gummerum et al., 2020; House et al., 2020). This suggests that adolescents not only try to be initially trusting (Sijtsma et al., 2023), but they also expect others to do the same, which highlights the importance of punishment of norm violations

to foster collective cooperation (House et al., 2020). In addition to this, the magnitude of the punishment does not simply increase with age, but it rather hints towards a more sophisticated sensitivity towards other people's choice to be selfish.

Many of the examples above generally refer to an increase of strategic behavior occurring from a more strategic use of cues from the social context, such as someone else's willingness to be trusting (e.g., Sijtsma et al., 2023; van den Bos et al., 2011), or simply knowing that the receiver is a friend (Güroğlu et al., 2014; Padilla-Walker et al., 2015; van de Groep et al., 2022). Nevertheless, it is unknown whether and how, during adolescence, there could also be an increase in implementation of cues from strategic contexts, that is, the type of game involved in terms of incentives, options and demands, independent of social context. In game theory, strategic contexts have been also divided into two main categories, named strategic complements and substitutes, which are known to foster cooperation and competition respectively.

Indeed, according to Camerer and Fehr (2006), strategic incentives play a crucial role in affecting the outcomes of social interactions, which take place between self-regarding individuals (close to the canonical model of a rational economic man), and people with other-regarding preferences (who value other people's outcomes, both positively and negatively). Specifically, cooperation is triggered when decisions of few other-regarding individuals incentivize the remaining majority of self-regarding others to cooperate, i.e., their choices show the benefits of caring about other people's decisions and their outcomes. Similarly, competition is instead triggered when the decisions of a few self-regarding individuals steer the other-regarding individuals to behave like them and solely focus on their own outcomes. In other words, the classical model of a rational and self-focused economic man fares better in a competitive context which rewards

minding own self-interest, while an other-regarding individual does better in strategic contexts where the agents are rewarded for taking into account the others' decisions.

A related concept to strategic complements vs. substitutes distinctions, highlighting the role of the strategic context, is game harmony. This describes "how harmonious (non-conflictual) or disharmonious (conflictual) the interest of players are, as embodied in the payoffs" (Zizzo & Tan, 2002), which could represent another way of describing complementarity (harmony) and substitutability (disharmony). It follows that, in harmonious or strategic complement games, henceforth "cooperation", the interests of the agents match (i.e., opting for the same choice is beneficial to everyone. In contrast, in games with strategic substitutes or disharmonious games, henceforth labelled "competition", all participants cannot simultaneously maximize their payoffs, thus similar strategies can offset one another and be detrimental.

The question of this dissertation is how the ability to distinguish between strategic contexts changes with age during adolescence, specifically in terms of cooperation (or complementarity) and competition (or substitutability), which we can consider as two opposite declinations coordination (Chierchia et al., 2018). The evidence sketched suggests that adolescence is a period of protracted neural plasticity and social development, perhaps a sensitive or critical one, during which peoples' decision making makes increasingly strategic use of social cues to guide social decision making. This raises the hypothesis that adolescence might also represent an appropriate candidate for investigating the emergence of higher forms of social behavior such as strategic abilities. Finally, coordination games constitute a potentially powerful tool which might be sensitive to the development of this ability to strategically interact with others.

1.4 Coordination Games

As previously hinted, coordination games are part of a broader class of games belonging to game theory, meaning that they involve analyzing options and incentives available in multi-agent decision problems, in which the outcomes of ones choices can depend on the choices of others (Myerson, 1991). Coordination games can involve choosing between a certain payoff (albeit often smaller) and a riskier (often higher) "social" option which involves cooperating or competing with others.

Since this study delves into strategic decisions throughout adolescence, it is worth mentioning the distinction between risk as seen in game theory/economics and developmental psychology. The former discipline defines it as a quantifiable uncertainty when making decisions, i.e., wherein the agent is aware of the probability for different outcomes, but not of the specific consequences of one's actions (e.g., knowing the 50% probability of getting Tails in a coin flip, but being unsure whether it will truly happen) (Platt and Huettel 2008; Loewenstein, Rick, and Cohen 2008; Mohr, Biele, and Heekeren 2010 etc.). Developmental psychology, on the other hand, has a rather behavioural and broader view of risk-taking, frequently defined as engaging in activities possibly associated with adverse, maladaptive outcomes (Boyer, 2006; Willoughby et al., 2021). This work mostly considers the economic aspect of risk-taking, with the difference of the unknown probability of receiving a reward when risking in certain circumstances in this case, which some could define as uncertainty (Knight, 1921).

Returning to coordination games, these decisions (risky or safe) can be investigated by looking into the optimal outcome for the players involved, which game theory tries to do by finding Nash equilibria i.e., a set of strategies that lead to a state in which no agent has an incentive to unilaterally deviate from his/her choice (Chierchia & Coricelli, 2015), so the optimal decision-making route. The problem of coordination games, however, is that they involve multiple Nash equilibria. This gives rise to a problem of equilibria selection (Cooper et al., 1990), labelled often as strategic uncertainty (Van Huyck et al., 1991). Because of this, coordination games have been said to constitute "The hardest problem of game theory" (C. F. Camerer, 2003). In simple words, among all the games in game theory, coordination games are particularly problematic because they cannot be solved by deductive reasoning alone, they have no right or wrong answer. This might also make coordination games particularly suitable environments to study strategic abilities that are not uniquely based on deductive reasoning, but also on social abilities.

In regards to this open matter, Chierchia and colleagues (2018) have investigated whether this strategic uncertainty is similar between cooperating in "games against others" and playing "games against nature" (Figure 1). Specifically, the available decisions in this experiment consisted of uncertain (or risky) and safe choices (of varying values) in both cases, with "games against others" representing coordination, divided into cooperation (coordination or stag-hunt) and competition (anti-coordination or entry game). The authors intended "games against nature" as two lotteries, one risky (probability to obtain the risky option of 0.5) and one ambiguous (unknown probability).



Figure 1. Illustration of the coordination game, reprinted with permission from Chierchia et al. (2018). The figure shows the possible choices among different conditions, involving a risky high-paying option and a safer lower-paying option. The outcome of choosing the risky option depended on the condition, involving cooperation (or "stag hunt"), competition (or "entry game") and the two lotteries.

They found that adults seem to change their decisions within the two strategic social contexts by exhibiting more propensity towards risking in cooperation compared to competition and lotteries (Figure 2). In other words, when risking alongside a player yields the maximum reward, adults are more willing to take a chance compared to when collective risking results in no prize for the people involved: nonetheless, coordination failures were surprisingly not infrequent. Additionally, players made decisions differently between strategic social contexts and games against nature: this difference was more noticeable between cooperation and lotteries, while competition seems to be akin to the ambiguous lottery, showing apparent similarity between competing against people and playing against nature where the outcome is unpredictable.



Figure 2. Visualization of trial-level uncertain choices (y-axis) relative to each sure payoff value (x-axis), across social (darker shades) and non-social (lighter shades) environments, with symbols shapes representing each condition, and positions indicating percentages of UP choices in each environment for each SP value. Reprinted with permission from Chierchia et al. (2018)

This last remark is true when considering choices whether to risk or not (specifically, certainty equivalents), however competition was associated with significantly greater switching between the two alternatives (which highly correlates with entropy, or noise), in parallel with longer decision times. Simply put, adults switch between risking and playing safely, but also dwell more on these choices in competition more than they do in a lottery (and cooperation), thus displaying an aversion to competition.

Why does competition elicit these different behavioral signatures, relative to cooperation? To understand the "why" of this considerably different pattern in competition compared to cooperation, we can look into cognitive hierarchy theories (Chong et al., 2005). Indeed, models of hierarchical or strategic reasoning (i.e., reasoning about other people thinking about us thinking about them etc.) predict increased switching as the level of reasoning increased, but only in competition. This highlights a potential special relation between non-verbal reasoning about other people's choices and repeatedly changing own decisions in competition, which has usually been framed as noise instead. Specifically, switching is hypothesized to be an indicator of inconsistent (or noisy) decisions in cooperation (or stag-hunt), while it is potentially compatible with higher recursive reasoning in competition (or entry game; Nagel et al., 2018).

In other words, going back and forth from safe to risky choices in cooperation, as the value of the sure payoff increases, might indicate lesser understanding of game dynamics and poorer strategic abilities in cooperation, while the same switching in competition might denote greater inferential effort about the anonymous counterpart's thoughts and choices. In turn, longer response times might be due to greater inferential effort, rather than indecisiveness. Overall, the results from this study indicate that risk-taking differentiates mostly cooperation from the other environments (Figure 3), while RTs and switching differentiate competition from other environments (Figure 4), with the latter being possibly tied to recursive/hierarchical reasoning in this condition. That is why all three measures (risk, switch and RTs) are fundamental in understanding how and whether a person differentiates between different strategic environments. More specifically, these measures can be used as indicators of strategic ability, i.e., the ability to adapt choices to different strategic contexts, such as of cooperation and competition.



Figure 3. Mean of certainty equivalents across different conditions. Greater certainty equivalents differentiated cooperation (or "stag hunt") from both competition (or entry game) and the lotteries. Reprinted from Chierchia et al. (2018). ***p < 0.001, **p < 0.01, *p < 0.05



Figure 4. Left: visualization of average switching amount (entropy) across different conditions (x-axis). Greater switching differentiated competition from cooperation and the lotteries. Right: response times (y-axis) across different conditions. Longer response times were related to a competitive context while shorter ones to a cooperative environment. Greater switching and RTs were indicators of competitive environments. Reprinted with permission from Chierchia et al. (2018)

As we extensively argued in the previous sections, non-verbal reasoning abilities improve markedly during adolescence (e.g., Chierchia et al., 2019; Krogsrud et al., 2021; Tamnes et al., 2010), which could predict changes in coordination patterns with age, especially in competition. Coordination games, however, are not only sensitive to strategic cognitive processes, but also to social contextual factors, since Chierchia and colleagues (2020; 2015) showed in two occasions that who we play against and how we perceive them might affect our choices. Indeed, people are more propense to risk in cooperation if they are playing with a friend or someone reportedly more similar to them, but also more risk averse in competition in the same situations. Nonetheless, despite this well-defined picture concerning adults by Chierchia et al. (2018), little is known about social decision-making and strategic reasoning in coordination games concerning children and adolescents, and specifically whether and how they choose to cooperate prosocially with others, or compete for the best individual outcome, and in what way these choices compare to playing against nature.

Some of these matters have already been investigated with an economic approach through different games, with results broadly suggesting an increase in strategic abilities and rational choices (Sutter et al., 2019), yet there is still no clear picture regarding ability to differentiate between strategic contexts in age groups younger than adults, especially for games involving playing with others. Regarding the last point, Westhoff and colleagues (2020) have investigated the development of the ability to adjust to cooperative and cooperative environments. They found that even from late childhood people managed to adapt well to uncooperative (or competitive) environments, however they started to adjust to cooperative ones only during adolescence. Crucially, by environments they intended social ones, as in the type of person they were interacting with (e.g., friendly or unfriendly), and not the type of game involved (e.g., cooperation or competition game). Although these results do not offer insight regarding strategic contexts related to types of coordination games, they represent a potential starting point in considering age-related differences in the ability to differentiate between diverse strategic contexts and how adolescents may adapt to them.

Ultimately, decisions amongst others are the outcome of social, cognitive and motivational processes, all of which undergo protracted development and changes during adolescence (e.g., Blakemore & Choudhury, 2006; Gardner & Steinberg, 2005; E. E. Nelson et al., 2005), which leads to the hypothesis that more sophisticated forms of social

and strategic behavior might emerge during this life stage. Indeed, since decision-making processes interact with both social and strategic contextual factors (Bruch & Feinberg, 2017; Chierchia, Tufano, et al., 2020; Lee & Harris, 2013), investigating them during adolescence might shed more light on how we learn to make decisions while keeping others in mind, which might also tell us more about how we might collectively solve pressing matters such as social dilemmas (Dawes, 1992).

A reasonably suitable method to do so can be found in game theory, and more specifically in coordination games. As multiple studies have shown (Chierchia et al., 2018; Chierchia, Tufano, et al., 2020; Chierchia & Coricelli, 2015; Westhoff et al., 2020), coordination games are a simple yet highly informative task which provides us with a way to explore how people might adjust their decisions with age based on the strategic context they are in while also having to think about other people's possible choices.

Specifically, and based on the research by Chierchia and colleagues (2018), the aim of this work is investigate the possible emergence of strategic coordination abilities so by focusing on how much adolescents might risk for a maximum reward or opt for a safer prize (of varying amounts) differently between strategic contexts, but also how often they switch between those two alternatives.

Additionally, we ask ourselves how much they dwell on their choices so that we can understand better, also thanks to switching amounts, whether choice patterns might be better explained by a lack of understanding (noise, or entropy), or rather greater hierarchical reasoning levels. Finally, through coordination games, we also assess how much people's choices under varying contexts might turn out to be more or less advantageous to them, by looking at their total payoff.

By bearing in mind not only the previous studies (e.g., Chierchia et al., 2018), but also the outcomes of both extraordinary and small-scale feats of human cooperation mentioned at the very beginning, we know not only that coordinating with others is clearly present, but also essential in adulthood. Furthermore, since interacting with other peers is increasingly prioritized during adolescence (E. E. Nelson et al., 2005), and given how this age is unique in many ways from a developmental perspective, extending coordination games to this life stage could tell us at which age we might observe the emergence of the ability to strategically coordinate with others.
2. Methods

2.1. Participants

596 Italian-speaking participants (215 males, 375 females) participated in the study, among school children (N = 150, M age = 10.5, SD = 0.63, with an age range between 9 and 11), adolescents (N = 147, M age = 12.8, SD = 0.75 age range between 12 and 15) and young adults (N = 299, M age = 21.4 SD = 3.33) (Table 1). All participants were native Italian speakers, had normal or corrected to normal vision and were naïve to the purpose of the study. Informed consent was obtained from all participants before the experiment. The protocol was approved by the psychological ethical committee of University of Pavia (ethics approval number 113/22) and participants were treated in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. Children and adolescents were recruited through a–request submitted to the principal's office of their respective schools, whereas adults were psychology students recruited through University newsletters.

| | Children | Adolescents | Adults | | | | |
|---------------|----------------|----------------|------------------------|--|--|--|--|
| N | 150 (87M, 63F) | 147 (76M, 71F) | 299 (52M, 241F, 6 N/S) | | | | |
| Age Range | 9-11 | 12-15 | 18-48 | | | | |
| Age Mean (SD) | 10.5 (0.63) | 12.8 (0.75) | 21.4 (3.33) | | | | |

Table 1. Participants' demographics table. 6 adults preferred not to specify their gender (N/S).

2.2. Materials

2.2.1. Coordination Games: Cooperation Vs. Competition

Participants were told that they would play two types of games with an age-matched peer, who would receive the same instructions and see the same options as they did. Both games are drawn from the behavioral game theory literature. One game was a stag hunt (also called assurance game) (Heinemann et al., 2009) and the other an entry game (C. Camerer & Lovallo, 1999). For simplicity, we henceforth refer to these games as cooperation and competition, since they foster this type of behavior (C. F. Camerer, 2003). In both games participants were presented with a choice between two options represented by two bags containing virtual gold coins (Figure 5): one bag represented a sure payoff (SP). If chosen, this corresponding amount of gold coins was always awarded, regardless of what one counterpart chose. This SP value varied pseudo-randomly from 1 to 15 from trial to trial, though no feedback was provided between trials. The second option was an uncertain payoff (UP) which could potentially lead to either the maximum payoff of 15 gold coins or nothing. Receiving 15 or 0 coins in the UP depended on the game. During the instructions, the SP and UP options were labeled as "mini treasure" and "super treasure" respectively. Participants were told that the goal of these games was to obtain as much gold as possible.

In the cooperation game the participant was awarded with the maximum payoff (15) after choosing the UP if and only if his/her anonymous counterpart chose this same option as well. In other words, both participants maximized their points by choosing the uncertain option. In contrast, in competition, one earned the maximum only if they chose the uncertain option and their counterpart did not. If both participants chose the uncertain

option, both earned 0. Throughout the instructions and task, the words "cooperation" and "competition" were never used, since participants were to understand the cooperative and competitive nature of the games based on the incentives alone. Correspondingly, during the task, the cooperative condition was labelled as the "only if both" condition, while competition as "only if alone", each with corresponding illustrations. Throughout the trials, the position (left-right) of the two options was randomized. The UP option could always be identified by the distinct game illustration and description (i.e., "only if you" or "only if both") on top of one of the two bags (e.g., when presented with a SP of 15 and an UP of the same value, the participant could recognize the UP by the illustration above this choice, whose content changed based on the current condition).

Each participant completed both games, consisting of 15 trials for each condition, so 30 in total, for which he/she did not receive any real monetary compensation. Importantly, after each trial, no feedback was provided revealing the outcome of the choices. This was done to avoid effects related to learning and belief updating and focus on decisions in one-shot games involving different options.

The experiment was implemented with Gorilla Experiment Builder (www.gorilla.sc) (Anwyl-Irvine et al., 2020). Therefore, all tasks were carried out using electronic devices (mostly laptops, a few PCs and tablets).

2.2.2. Lottery

Both the conditions above were social, in that they involved coordinating choices with other people. The lottery condition was developed as a non-social control. This condition involved the same SP (guaranteed to be secured when chosen) and UP options as the coordination games, thus identical potential incentives. As in the coordination games, if the SP was chosen, that amount of gold coins was gained for sure. In contrast, if participants chose the uncertain option, they obtained the maximum payoff depending on an extraction from a random (non-social lottery). To make this ambiguity clear to the players, during the explanation of this condition we drew participants' attention to an empty opaque box in which we openly placed two blue balls and two red balls, closed it, and then rattled it. At this point, another experimenter removed two balls from the box without letting the participants or the other experimenter know which ones, and finally closed the lid again. Consequently, the box might have contained two blue balls or two red balls, or one blue and one red. It was then explained to the participants that, after the end of the session, a single ball would be randomly drawn by a computer, and that the lottery payoff would depend on its color. Specifically, the UP could be won only with a red ball extraction and, since the color of the two balls remaining in the box was unknown, the probability of obtaining a red ball was unknown as well. This is done with the purpose of matching the fact that, in games with other people, the probability that others will choose the SP or UP is unknown.

This condition was identified by the label "random draw" and, similarly to the coordination game, its illustration was positioned over the UP choice to indicate that this was the risky option between the two. As in coordination games, SPs and UPs are named "mini treasure" and "super treasure", respectively. The lottery game was played for 15

trials just like the coordination ones: the order in which these 3 games are completed was randomized (e.g., one participant could start with lottery, another with cooperation etc.), although they were all played in one session and in blocks, meaning that the three games were not mixed, so each time one started one of the three games, he/she played it for 15 trials. This was done to reduce possible confusion due to excessive task switching. The 3 games are displayed in Figure 5 along with the choices.



Figure 5. Summarized representation of coordination games (cooperation or "only if both" and competition or "only if you") and the random lottery (random draw). Participants could choose between a sure payoff and an unsure or "risky" payoff, whose choice outcome depended on the condition, similarly to Chierchia et al. (2018). The illustrations on the right are used to both identify the condition the participant was playing in and the UP choice between the two (placed above the bag). *The SP value pseudo-randomly varied between 1 and 15.

2.2.3. Game Comprehension

After the instructions, to ensure that the participants have understood the rules, they also completed a questionnaire before doing the task. Participants answered to true/false and multiple-choice questions across 4 areas which assessed knowledge regarding: 1) general rules, 2) coordination, 3) competition and 4) lottery trials. The general rules involved 5 true or false questions regarding instructions common to all three games. For example, participants were asked whether the lottery and coordination games involved any feedback, how to identify the UP between the two choices or how they could obtain the SP etc. There were 10 multiple choice questions regarding the coordination games (5 for cooperation, 5 for competition), mainly assessing correct answers to hypothetical choices (Figure 6) (e.g., in "only if both", if you pick the super-treasure and the other person chooses the mini-treasure, how much do you get?). As for the lottery game, the multiple-choice questions were 3, and similar to those of the coordination game. During this time, they were allowed and encouraged to ask further questions to the experimenters concerning how to play the game appropriately.

Since the aim of this questionnaire was to clear any doubt, they received feedback for each answer through a green tick in case of correct responses, and a red cross in case of erroneous ones. They could not progress through the questionnaire (and later access the games) unless they eventually selected all the correct answers.

Furthermore, we counted the number of incorrect responses, and later used this index as a "Comprehension" measure related to the instructions given. Specifically, we also took into account multiple erroneous attempts for each multiple-choice question. A participant giving multiple incorrect answers to the same question or making overall many mistakes was considered to have a lesser understanding compared to someone with

no or fewer mistakes.



Figure 6. An example question from the pre-coordination questionnaire showing multiple answers to the hypothetical question, which refers to the cooperation condition. To understand which condition the question refers to (and answer correctly), the participant needs to recognize the corresponding illustration on the right.

2.2.4. Self-Referential Vs. Other-Oriented Strategies

After having played through a session of the three games, the participants were administered a questionnaire which assessed self-reported strategies and awareness during the task. It consisted of 8 questions concerning comparisons between games, such as: "Have your choices changed between cooperation and competition?", which were assessed with yes/no/I don't know responses. In the case of an affirmative answer, the participants were also allowed to motivate their strategy with an open question (If your choices have changed, how?). Finally, the participants were also asked how much they thought about themselves getting the reward or the anonymous counterpart obtaining it in the coordination games (e.g., in coordination, how much did you think about what you wanted to get?), which they could indicate with a slider going from 0 to ten (Figure 7).

There were no correct or incorrect answers in this questionnaire, given that the aim was to assess whether the participants actively changed their strategic approach and by extent how aware they were about differences between the three games. The main measure of interest were the visual analogue scales (1-10) in terms of difference between how much the participants were thinking about others vs themselves during coordination and competition tasks.



Figure 7. An example question from the post-coordination questionnaire involving competition (only if you), specifically asking to quantify the amount of thought given to self- vs. other- directed strategic thinking by placing the blue dot anywhere between 0 and 10 (included).

2.2.5. Reasoning Ability

The Matrix Reasoning Item Bank (MaRs-IB) (Chierchia et al., 2019), is an open-access non-verbal abstract reasoning task consisting of incomplete matrices containing abstract shapes (Figure 8). Similarly to Raven's Progressive Matrices (Raven & Raven, 2003), in the MaRs the participants were required to recognize the relationship between matrices at different levels of complexity and choose the correct missing square among 4 for 16 trials. During the task they were not given any feedback regarding the accuracy of their choices, and they were asked to complete every "puzzle" as quickly and accurately as possible. The participants had 30 seconds to complete each matrix and, in case of indecision, they were notified with a 5 second countdown which signaled that the task was about to proceed to the next picture.

This task has been recently validated in adults (Zorowitz et al., 2023), showing good reliability and convergent validity. It is a flexible tool that spans across a wide range of difficulty levels and possesses a good level of discrimination. Indeed, using this task, Chierchia and colleagues have replicated the many aforementioned findings (e.g., Hartung et al., 2020; Wendelken et al., 2017) of increasing non-verbal cognitive abilities during adolescence (Chierchia et al., 2019), showing how the MaRs is sensitive to agerelated improvements in reasoning accuracy during adolescence. Regarding the way we measured performance, although we also recorded reaction times, focus was given towards the means of correct answers across 16 trials, since all participants had a fixed time limit on each trial. Greater MaRs scores are interpreted as higher non-verbal reasoning abilities.



Figure 8. An incomplete matrix from the MaRs, to be completed by selecting one option from the 4 available below. To find the correct answer, the participant must infer the pattern of one or more shapes and its colors inside each square (e.g., the color and the position of the straight lines in the upper squares). This item is one of the more complex ones, involving interaction between different shapes and colors. In this case the third option from the left is the correct answer. Reprinted with permission from Chierchia et al (2019).

2.3. Measures

2.3.1. Coordination Games and Lottery

Considering previous similar studies (Chierchia et al., 2018; Chierchia, Tufano, et al., 2020; Chierchia & Coricelli, 2015), this study focused on four main dependent variables: Risk (UP choice probability), Switching (also referred to as trembling), Response Times (RT) and Payoff, with main priority given to the first 3 measures. As mentioned in the introduction, all these 3 measures are important in differentiating between cooperation and competition, therefore in exploring strategic ability. Furthermore, we treated as predictors the games (3 levels: cooperation, competition and lottery) and age, as a 3-level categorical variable (children, adolescents and adults).

2.3.1.1. Risk

Risky choices were coded as 1, if participants chose the risk option (UP), and 0, if they chose the safe option (SP).

2.3.1.2. Switching

We constructed our switching variable similarly to Chierchia et al. (2020), thus proceeding as follows: for each game, we first order the 15 trials in ascending order, based on the SP value; then, we dummy code each variant (with the exclusion of the first variant which by construction has 1 SP) with a "1" if the choice had changed relative to the previous variant, and with a "0" if it had not. Consequently, switching is the amount of switching from UP to SP (1 to 0) and vice versa across 15 trials for each game, also known as "Trembling" (Chierchia, Tufano, et al., 2020), which was found to be highly correlated with the measure of entropy (Chierchia et al., 2018) and often defined as uncertainty, or

noise/randomness. In the same studies, participants usually chose UPs when the alternatives were lower SP values, and often switched to SPs when they became larger. In some cases, people might switch only once towards medium SP values (e.g., 7 or 8) in a perfect threshold strategy, although it is more often the case of multiple back and forth switching.

2.3.1.3. Response Times (RT)

The amount of time it takes for a participant to make a choice. Similarly to switching, this measure can be an indicator of lesser understanding and/or uncertainty, as well as greater impulsivity if RTs are low. Conversely, together with switching, RTs might represent an additional proxy for recursive reasoning in competition with increased response times in this condition compared to others (Chierchia et al., 2018) (Figure 4).

2.3.1.4. Payoff

This measure is intended to be a proxy for performance in different games, so how advantageous the participants' choices were, and it is calculated in the same way as Chierchia and colleagues (2018). In all conditions, the payoff of SP choices was simply the corresponding SP value, since it was always given when selected, while the payoff following UP choice depended on the condition. In the case of the ambiguous lottery, the amount awarded was always 7.5, i.e., the Expected Value considering an 50% probability to win the maximum prize (15), so 15*50/100.

In the cooperation condition, the expected value of the UP was calculated by multiplying 15, the potential winning, to the average of UP choice probability for the specific trial "x" excluding the participant "i" of which we are calculating the UP, thus considering the total number of participants minus one each time (e.g., if on average UP

choice for the trial with SP= 3 is 0.7, the EV of the participant choosing UP in that trial is 15*0.7).

$$EV_{i(UP_x)}^{Coop} = 15 * \frac{\Sigma_{-i}UP(x)}{n-1}$$

In competition, on the other hand, the expected value of the UP is simply 15 times the inverse of the average of other people choosing the same option in the specific trial "x", since choosing the same options as others in this case is disadvantageous.

$$EV_{i(UP_x)}^{Comp} = 15 * \left(1 - \frac{\Sigma_{-i}UP(x)}{n-1}\right)$$

2.4. Procedure

Each age group was tested at different times and in different places, meaning that children and adolescents were in their respective IT classrooms, while adults were tested in the university with their own devices. Participants first completed a standard demographic survey and an informed consent form. Afterwards, with the aid of a PowerPoint presentation, an experimenter provided the instructions concerning the 3 games, the questionnaires and MaRs. The order of completion of each measure was the same for everyone, starting with the Pre-coordination questionnaire, then coordination games and lottery (in randomized blocks), followed by the post-coordination questionnaire and finally MaRs. The duration of the entire experiment varied from 30 to 40 minutes.

2.5. Statistical Analysis

To investigate differences between cooperation, competition and lottery across the three age categories, we started by calculating differences scores, or "deltas", of cooperation-competition on the three main dependent variables (risk, switch, RTs), with

age as predictor (e.g., cooperation-competition for risk in adolescents, competition-lottery in switch in adults etc.). We performed ANOVA with the car package (J. Fox & Weisberg, 2019) to analyze main effect of the predictor age across deltas of risk, switching and RTs. In cases of significant main effect, we performed post-hoc analysis between deltas for each age category by computing estimated marginal means (EMMs) using the emmeans package (Lenth, 2023). This was done to assess whether deltas significantly differed from 0 for each age group, and thus to test for the ability to differentiate between games in children, adolescents and adults. Furthermore, we also investigated age differences in this ability by looking into pairwise comparisons between deltas belonging to each age group (e.g., how children risked in cooperation-competition compared to how adolescents and adults did). This procedure was repeated for each delta of the three main dependent variables, so delta cooperation-competition in risking, delta cooperation-competition in switching and cooperation-competition in RTs., thus involving 3 models. To investigate strategic ability, this work and its analyses mainly focus on social conditions (cooperation and competition); however, to verify the directionality regarding findings of greater cooperation or competition across the 3 main dependent variables and for each level of the age predictor, we have also analyzed scores differences of cooperation/competition and lottery (see Appendix for more details and results).

The 3 models above are the base models of interest. To these we added a number of control models. These include the base models but add, first in turn, and then all together, 7 additional predictors: gender, non-verbal reasoning (MaRs), comprehension (pre-coordination questionnaire), strategies (post-coordination questionnaire), risk-taking (total of UP choices in lottery, as a control for general risk behavior), and two models comprising "flagged" participants. In one model we removed participants who displayed a response time lower than 250ms and higher than 3 SD from the mean, to avoid potential effects of outliers on data analysis. In the second model, we flagged certain participants based on their choices in lottery that could suggest possible lack of understanding. To do so, we first excluded participants who never switched in lottery (always UP or SP choice), and then ran a Generalized Linear Mixed-Effects Model (GLMM) using the *lme4* package (Bates et al., 2015) which allowed us to extract slope coefficients of the series of 15 choices between SP and UP for each participant. Afterwards, we excluded participants with a slope coefficient greater than the 9th quantile of the total, thus obtaining a list of participants who never switched from UP or SP (and vice versa) and/or displayed choice patterns suggesting lack of understanding. To look for age differences in the number of "flags" between the 3 age groups, we first ran a Kruskal-Wallis rank-sum test for main effects, and a Wilcoxon rank sum test with continuity correction for pairwise comparisons between age groups, both with the *stats* package (R Core Team, 2023). Additionally, we also "flagged" participants

Finally, to enquire whether control variables had an effect on age differences in cooperation-competition deltas, we ran a series of separate ANOVA and EMMs analysis for each of the dependent variable aforementioned, which included: gender, MaRs, Precoord questionnaire, post-coord questionnaire, amount of risking in lottery and exclusion of "flagged" participants. All data analyses were performed through *R-Studio* (RStudio Team, 2020).

3. Results

3.1. Descriptive Statistics

Descriptive statistics for the 4 measures across the 3 games are reported below (Table 2).

| | Condition | Risk | | | Payoff | | | Switch | | | Reaction Time | | |
|--------------|-------------|----------------|----------------|----------------|----------------|----------------|-----------------|----------------|----------------|----------------|----------------------|----------------------|----------------------|
| | | Children | Adolescents | Adults | Children | Adolescents | Adults | Children | Adolescents | Adults | Children | Adolescents | Adults |
| Mean (SD) | Cooperation | 0.55 (0.25) | 0.49 (0.22) | 0.66 (0.26) | 9.04 (1.20) | 9.32 (1.20) | 11.15 (1.21) | 0.31 (0.21) | 0.28 (0.20) | 0.13 (0.13) | 2431.44 (1111.54) | 2125.17 (1030.90) | 2703.20 (1482.58) |
| | Competition | 0.48 (0.23) | 0.41 (0.18) | 0.38 (0.18) | 7.92 (0.61) | 8.61 (0.38) | 8.87 (0.54) | 0.33 (0.19) | 0.36 (0.19) | 0.29 (0.18) | 2451.02 (1141.72) | 2263.26 (1152.09) | 4155.20 (2761.65) |
| | Lottery | 0.48 (0.22) | 0.41 (0.19) | 0.43 (0.17) | 8.44 (0.74) | 8.69 (0.71) | 9.22 (0.57) | 0.34 (0.18) | 0.31 (0.19) | 0.16 (0.13) | 2578.16 (1400.55) | 2080.75 (773.03) | 2487.28 (1036.08) |

Table 2. Descriptive statistics for each dependent variable (Risk, Payoff, Switch and Reaction Time) and each level of the two predictor variables (age category and condition), with

means and standard deviations (in brackets).

3.2. Age-Related Differences in Strategic Ability3.2.1. Risk

Delta cooperation-competition analyses revealed significantly greater risk in cooperation compared to competition for all age groups (all ps < 0.01), from small (for and adolescents and children) to large (for adults) positive effect sizes (Cohen's ds > 0.31, 95% CIs [>0.09, <1.45]) indicating that all three age groups chose the risky options more frequently in cooperation than competition. ANOVA showed a significant main effect of age (p <0.001), while contrast analysis showed no significant difference between children and adolescents (p= 1.00), but significant difference between adults and the other two age groups (ps < 0.001) with large negative effect sizes (ds > -0.80, 95% CIs [>-1.00,>-0.60]), meaning that adults, compared to children and adolescents, risked more in cooperation compared to competition. Figure 9 contains plots visualizing risk choices across each trial, while Figure 10 summarizes results from this section and the following ones below.

3.2.2. Switching

Delta cooperation-competition analyses revealed significantly greater switching in competition compared to cooperation for adolescents and adults (all ps < 0.001), with negative effect sizes ranging from moderate (in adolescents) to large (in adults) (ds >-0.43, 95% CIs [>-1.03, <-0.20]), but not children (p = 0.42). This means that only adolescents and adults switched more frequently in competition compared to cooperation. Furthermore, ANOVA showed a significant main effect of age (p < 0.001), while contrast analysis showed significant differences between all groups (ps < 0.05), with positive small effect sizes for adolescents and adults/children comparisons and large for children-adults (ds > 0.30, 95% CI [>0.07,0.87]). This indicates that adolescents have switched

more in competition than cooperation compared to children, who did not differentiate between the two, but less so compared to adults.

3.2.3. Response Times

Delta cooperation-competition analyses revealed significantly longer response times in competition compared to cooperation in adults only (p < 0.001), with large negative effect size (d= -0.83, 95% CI [-0.99, -0.66]), indicating that adults, but not adolescents and children, displayed longer RTs in competition compared to cooperation. ANOVA showed a significant main effect of age (p < 0.001), while contrast analysis of estimated marginal means showed no significant difference between children and adolescents (p=1.00), but significant difference between adults and the other two age groups (ps < 0.001) with large positive effect sizes (ds > 0.69, 95% CIs [>0.48, <0.95]). This means that adults took longer to respond in competition compared to cooperation in comparison to children and adolescents.



Figure 9. Similar trial-level plots to that of Chierchia et al. (2018) (Figure 2), showing the amount of UP choice (y-axis) for each SP value (x-axis) across the three age groups and conditions (represented by color and shape, with each point being an average of UP choices for that SP). Greater space between the lines indicates greater differentiation between conditions, which is highest in adults. Shaded ribbons represent 95% confidence intervals of the estimated fixed effects.



Figure 10. Raincloud plots (box + density plots) representing results for each of the 3 dependent variables' difference scores (or deltas, y-axis) between cooperation and competition for children (red), adolescents (green) and adults (blue), with a dashed line representing 0 (no differentiation between cooperation and competition). Each dot is a participant. The plots combine results from EMMs analysis for delta deviations from 0 (colored asterisks) and contrast analyses for age-related differences in cooperation-competition deltas (black squared brackets and asterisks). Upward arrows indicate positive values, thus greater cooperation, while downward arrows negative values and greater competition. Plots were obtained using the "raincloudplots" *R* package (Allen et al., 2021).

3.3. Age-Related Differences in Game Comprehension, Other-oriented Thinking and Non-Verbal Reasoning and Their Effect on Coordination Abilities

Each of our control variables varied significantly with age: ANOVAs revealed that adults understood the games more easily than children and adolescents (*ps* < 0.001, positive ds >0.94, 95% CIs [>0.74, <1.33]) (Figure 11), since they were also flagged to a lesser extent (*ps* < 0.01, with small positive effect size r > 0.14, 95% CIs [>0.04, <0.36]. Additionally, they obtained higher scores in non-verbal reasoning compared to younger age groups (all *ps* < 0.001, large negative ds <-1.65, 95% CIs [-1.88,-0.90]) (Figure 12), and also showed reduced egocentric biases in thinking about their own payoff as opposed to that of their interaction partners compared to adolescents (*p* = 0.02, d= -0.28, 95% CI [-0.48, -0.08]) (Figure 13). Importantly, each of these variables also predicted more risk taking in cooperation than competition (all *ps* < 0.001, $\eta^2 > 0.02$, 95% CIs [>0.01,<0.15]), but more switching and longer response times in competition than cooperation (all *ps* < 0.001, $\eta^2 > 0.02$, 95% CIs [>0.01,<0.15]), but more importance of controlling for these age-related variables, as done in the following control models.



Figure 12. Left: age differences in the number of mistakes in the pre-coordination questionnaire, with higher values indicating lesser understanding. Right: linear models of pre-coordination scores (x-axis, mean centered across age groups and multiplied by -1 for clearer understanding) predicting the 3 dependent variables' deltas. Positive slopes indicate increased cooperation with greater comprehension, negative slopes indicate greater competition with increasing comprehension.



Figure 11. Left: age differences in non-verbal reasoning (mean of MaRs scores). Right: linear models of MaRs scores (x-axis, mean centered across age groups) predicting the 3 dependent variables' deltas. Positive slopes indicate increased cooperation with higher non-verbal reasoning, negative slopes indicate greater competition with increasing non-verbal reasoning.



Figure 13. Left: age differences in egocentric bias, measured by the post-coordination questionnaire (other- self thinking scores). Right: linear models of other-self thinking deltas (x-axis, mean centered across age groups) predicting the 3 dependent variables' deltas. Positive slopes indicate increased cooperation with greater reasoning about others, negative slopes indicate greater competition with higher reasoning about others.

Finally, we re-ran the delta cooperation-competition analysis by adding one control variable each time (gender, pre-coord, post-coord, removed flagged participants, MaRs, lottery risk amount and all together) (Table 3). We continued to observe age differences between adults' and adolescents' coordination strategies when controlling for each of the control variables, with one exception: switching. Moreover, we found that age differences switching are cancelled by age-related differences in non-verbal reasoning (MaRs), and specifically between adolescents and children/adults (ps > 0.17).

| Control Variables Risk | | | | | Switch | | | | Reaction Time | | | |
|------------------------|---------------------------|--------------------------|------------------------|---------------------|---------------------------|--------------------------|------------------------|---------------------|---------------------------|--------------------------|------------------------|---------------------|
| | Control Main Effect | Children- Adolescents | Adolescents- Adults | Children- Adults | Control Main Effect | Children- Adolescents | Adolescents- Adults | Children- Adults | Control Main Effect | Children- Adolescents | Adolescents- Adults | Children- Adults |
| Default Model | / | ns | *** | *** | / | * | *** | *** | / | ns | *** | *** |
| Gender | ns | ns | *** | *** | * | * | *** | *** | * | ns | *** | *** |
| MaRs | ns | ns | *** | *** | * | ns | ns | ** | ns | ns | *** | *** |
| Pre-Coord | ns | ns | *** | *** | ns | * | ** | *** | ns | ns | *** | *** |
| Post-Coord | *** | ns | *** | *** | *** | * | ** | *** | * | ns | *** | *** |
| Lottery Risk | ns | ns | *** | *** | * | * | ** | *** | ns | ns | *** | *** |
| Without Slope Flags | / | ns | *** | *** | / | ns | ** | *** | / | ns | *** | *** |
| Without RT Flags | / | ns | *** | *** | / | * | *** | *** | / | ns | *** | *** |
| All Covariates | / | ns | *** | * | / | ns | ns | * | / | ns | *** | *** |

Table 3. Multiple linear regression models of age differences across the 3 dependent variables, with each line representing a model with the formula DV~ Age Group (+Covariate). Purple outline emphasizes the removal of age-related differences in switching between adolescents and children/adults after controlling for non-verbal reasoning(MaRs). ***p < 0.001, **p < 0.01, *p < 0.05, ns: p > 0.05

4. Discussion

4.1. Propensity for Cooperation and Aversion to Competition in Adolescence

In this study we provide evidence regarding the development of coordination abilities in diverse strategic contexts during adolescence, hypothesizing that they might emerge during this time. In order to examine these abilities, we investigated through coordination games whether adolescents improve in the ability to strategically coordinate their choices to those of other peers in cooperative and competitive environments without communicating, thus focusing on the development of strategic ability. Across three age groups between late childhood and early adulthood, analysis of strategic ability has shown that people of all ages took more risks in cooperation than competition. Importantly however, this propensity for cooperation increased with age, also leading to higher payoffs, which indicates that propensity for cooperation is adolescent developing and already present in children as young as 9-10.

Additionally, we found that adults displayed more response variance and longer response times under competition than cooperation, but only greater response variance in adolescents, indicating partial aversion to competition, as we did not find similar results for RTs. This suggests that, while propensity for cooperation is adolescent developing, aversion to competition is adolescent emergent. This pattern of results was also shown when comparing cooperation and competition to the non-social lottery, rather than to one another (see Appendix for details).

Furthermore, we controlled for an additional set of variables which could potentially explain age differences strategic ability, finding that age-related differences in aversion to competition, and specifically increased variance, were explained by improvements in non-verbal reasoning.

Previous studies by have highlighted a propensity for cooperation (C. Fox & Weber, 2002) and aversion to competition (C. Camerer, 1999) in coordination games in adults, as measured by greater risking in the cooperation, but also higher switching and response times in competition (Chierchia et al., 2018; Chierchia, Tufano, et al., 2020; Chierchia & Coricelli, 2015). The present study has replicated these findings regarding adults and has extended them to adolescents as well. Consequently, since we have confirmed these findings by considering lottery as well, our study shows once again that betting on others is not the same as betting against "Nature", and that the way we play against others highly depends on the strategic context as well. Furthermore, this phenomenon seems to be already present and increasing during adolescence.

Previously we discussed how adolescents become increasingly sensitive to their social context, and how they implement more strategically social cues from the environment (Güroğlu et al., 2014; Padilla-Walker et al., 2015; van de Groep et al., 2022): our results integrate this view with a developing ability to differentiate between strategic contexts, or strategic ability, which is still in earlier stages when competition is involved, especially given that age-related differences mainly concerned adults and children/adolescents, while children and adolescence only slightly differed in their choices variability in competition compared to other games. The presence in adolescence/late childhood of the ability to differentiate between social contexts (or betting on others) and non-social environments (betting on nature) is in line with findings

of increasing ToM and sensitivity towards others mentioned above (paragraph 1.2.3). By this, we mean that, similarly to the findings of Fett et al., or Sijtsma and colleagues (respectively 2014; 2023), adolescents (and children) might be more willing to bet that others will risk along them in cooperation, reassured by the thought that they would think about the choices in a similar way, compared to simply being up against completely unknown chance in a lottery. As discussed by Chierchia et al. (2018), greater cooperation might be fostered by this prosocial belief since it would be reasonable to behave trustingly in the cooperation game, as it brings greater advantage to both. In addition to beliefs, the choices might also be driven by prosocial motives to trust others, not simply because it makes sense strategically, but also because of an inherent willingness to be trusting, which is more collectively beneficial (House et al., 2020). In competition, however, the same belief that others would behave similarly might render decisions more difficult, since in this case same choices bring to disadvantageous consequences, so in these circumstances decision-making might be more driven by social preferences. This leads to generally consider cooperation and competition as not simply diametrically opposite, but rather different, which might also be the reason why propensity for cooperation and aversion to competition might follow slightly different developmental schedules, since the former is present in children while the latter is only emerging in adolescence. Furthermore, risking, switching and RTs in competition and cooperation might be sensitive to different factors and to a different extent, which leads us to wonder which factors might be best suited to understand this differentiation and whether they might play a role in explaining agerelated differences across these strategic contexts.

4.2. Possible Explanations for Age Differences in Coordination

Naturally, given the previously discussed results, the next step would be investigating some potential explanations regarding these age differences in propensity to cooperate and aversion to compete. To do so, we have taken into consideration 3 main candidates: comprehension (as measured by the pre-coordination questionnaire), non-verbal reasoning (MaRs average scores) and strategies (post-coordination questionnaire measures of thinking about the self vs. others). Indeed, given the development of socio-cognitive abilities during adolescence (e.g., Choudhury et al., 2006; Dumontheil, Apperly, et al., 2010; Hartung et al., 2020), it is reasonable to look into age-related differences in strategic behavior by taking into account cognitive and social factors, the former more represented by comprehension and non-verbal reasoning, while the latter perhaps better exemplified by self-reported strategies given the involvement of thinking about the other counterparts while making decisions. Moreover, all three measures proved to be sensitive to age, generally reflecting cognitive improvements and more social strategic balance for older participant: not only, but they were all also associated with propensity to cooperation and aversion to competition regardless of age.

Once we have shown that these 3 predictors have an effect on cooperation and competition in general, we asked ourselves whether we might continue to observe effects of age when controlling for them. Indeed, that seems to be the case for Risk and RTs where we keep observing differences between adults and children/adolescents but not between adolescents and children, whereas surprisingly the age differences in switching between adolescents and adults were cancelled out by age differences in non-verbal reasoning only. In simpler terms, adults might switch more in competition compared to cooperation because of more developed reasoning abilities, rather than simply due to higher chronological age. This might be due to the previously mentioned link between switching in competition and strategical/hierarchical reasoning theorized by Chong et al. (2005) and hypothesized by Chierchia and colleagues (2018) to be behind differences in cooperative and competitive contexts. Specifically, greater effort in thinking what the anonymous counterpart might think about us thinking about him/her in a recursive manner might lead one to frequently switch from a SP to a UP, in the attempt to anticipate the other person's choices and avoid choosing the UP at the same time. This same process might not be engaged as much in cooperation, since it could be enough stopping at a more basic level of strategic thinking to make the optimal choice, i.e., it might suffice to think about the other person's probable first choice rather than recursively attempting to predict their thoughts.

It is also the case, however, that the same amount of switching might be a sign of increased reasoning in one case, but also higher noise (entropy) in another, thus a product of either better or worse understanding. Indeed, we did not find in adolescents longer RTs in competition compared to cooperation (and lottery) to further corroborate greater inferential effort, as we did in adults, and neither the removal of age-related differences in RTs when controlling for non-verbal reasoning. Adolescents have often been portrayed as noisier or more uncertain (Reiter et al., 2021), so greater switching without longer response times might point towards the same direction. Nonetheless, switching conceptualized as entirely noise does not explain the involvement of non-verbal reasoning in competition, which ultimately might suggest that switching in competition only is more sensitive to strategic reasoning, which might especially emerge during adolescence, thus partly explaining age related differences in competition aversion.

Although the name strategic or hierarchical reasoning might suggest fairly "cold" cognitive abilities, the recursion involved in it is typical of social contexts, since mental states are distinguished by physical states also by the fact that they can be recursive, seeing as the people we trying to understand possess thoughts of their own about us. Together with the previously mentioned propensity to cooperate, the age-related differences of strategic reasoning underlying switching in competition might be indirectly indicative of an increased sensitivity to others and their intentions during adolescence (e.g., Dumontheil, Apperly, et al., 2010; Sul et al., 2017; van den Bos et al., 2011). Nevertheless, this behavioral indicator of possible other-oriented thinking is not yet paralleled by a greater self-reported balance between thinking about own and other people's choices, which likely emerges in late adolescence. Indeed, adults have overall thought about the goals of their anonymous counterparts significantly more than children and adolescents, while all age groups kept their own aims in mind.

4.3. Adolescence and Risk: Between Impulsivity and Strategy

In the process mentioning risk in the last few paragraphs, we have frequently discussed about it in terms of propensity for cooperation, while taking for granted a crucial finding which warrants a deeper discussion: adolescents did not engage in indiscriminate risktaking behavior and were not always the greatest risk-taking age group. Regarding the first assessment, evidence from maturational imbalance or dual models (Casey et al., 2008; Steinberg et al., 2018), might lead us to hypothesize that greater motivational sensation-seeking could result in adolescents always risking more without showing particular preferences towards cooperation or competition. Similarly, but from a different point of view, alternative theories such as the life span wisdom model (Romer et al., 2017) could predict greater exploration tendencies throughout the various games, which might appear as greater general risk-taking. In contrast to this, we found that adolescents adapted their risk-taking behavior based on the strategic context they were in, which was also beneficial in terms of payoff, thus showing the ability to be mindful of the circumstances and consider the best course of action. We did, however, find that children and adolescents not only made more mistakes than adults in the pre-coordination questionnaire (comprehension), but also frequently and repeatedly chose the same incorrect answer, which can be interpreted as greater impulsivity. Nonetheless, adolescents also risked less than adults in cooperation (compared to competition and lottery), which is unlikely due to greater sensation-seeking in adults compared to adolescents given the developmental trajectories (Steinberg et al., 2018), but possibly due an increasing (but not yet mature) capability to understand the type of strategic context and opt for the more collectively advantageous choice.

Taken together, the findings regarding selectively greater switching in competition and higher risk-taking in cooperation in adults compared to younger age groups suggest that this type of behavior is also modulated by the strategic context. This has potential implications in the way certain assessments regarding adolescents are made, especially in terms of how findings regarding risk-taking or "noise" are generalized. Additionally, in the introduction (paragraph 1.2.4) we discussed how risk-taking behavior might change depending on the social context (Molleman et al., 2022) as well: this is also true for the emotional context, since Figner and colleagues (2009) found that adolescents were more likely to risk compared to adults in context that were more affectively engaging, while displaying no difference in more deliberate, or "colder" circumstances. In addition to social and emotional contexts, adolescent's risk-taking behavior has been shown to depend also on whether the individual has access to the probability of an outcome or not (Tymula et al., 2012), wherein adolescents were more risk tolerant towards ambiguity (unknown probability) and risk-averse when probabilities were known compared to adults. With this work, we integrate this evidence by arguing that risk-taking in adolescence also depends on the strategic context, proving to be greater in cooperation similarly to adults, although to a lesser extent. Ultimately, the argument that adolescents are increasingly strategic might be against stereotypical views of adolescence as an age of "storm and stress" (Buchanan & Bruton, 2016), and could give more credit to adolescents' decision-making abilities, thus perhaps providing some evidence against greater lack of responsibility during this years.

4.4. Adolescence as a Sensitive Age for The Development of Strategic Abilities

In the previous sections (paragraph 1.2.4) we have discussed evidence in favor of the hypothesis that adolescence might represent a second sensitive period of development (Fuhrmann et al., 2015). Specifically, recent evidence shows protracted brain changes during adolescence in terms, with a particular focus on peak brain variability (Bethlehem et al., 2022), increased neuroplasticity (Petanjek et al., 2011) and cognitive development (Choudhury et al., 2006; Hartung et al., 2020), but also heightened sensitivity to peer influence (e.g., Chein et al., 2011; Gardner & Steinberg, 2005; Reiter et al., 2021). These changes take place during a time of marked social re-orientation (E. E. Nelson et al., 2005) and exploration of unfamiliar environments (Ciranka & van den Bos, 2021), which might foster the emergence of more complex social behavior. Indeed, adolescents become increasingly coordinated to their social environment by becoming more sensitive to the peers they are playing with or against (Gummerum et al., 2020; Sijtsma et al., 2023; Westhoff et al., 2020): our findings extend these considerations of improving coordination to strategic environments as well, given the developing propensity towards cooperation and aversion to competition, which is also related to improvements in non-verbal reasoning. In other words, adolescents are not only becoming increasingly sensitive to the attitudes or characteristics of the counterparts they are interacting with, but also to the environment they are interacting in, by managing to understand more advantageous courses of action in relation to other people's choices.

Furthermore, the emergence of strategic coordination might represent an important milestone in social development, since it might help bridge the gap between self- and other-interest, and thus foster better social integration. Indeed, ongoing work

(Stagnitto et al., in prep) shows that coordination games are associated with peer relationships as measured by peer nominations (i.e., indices of how liked or disliked a peer is among their classmates). Specifically, it seems that competition, but not cooperation, is sensitive peer relationships, in the sense that least liked adolescents compete more (higher risk) and do so less flexibly (less switching). This has two implications, one more theoretical and a second relatively practical: firstly, these results again show that cooperation and competition are not simply opposites, but different (as discussed above), since competition was sensitive to peer nominations, but cooperation was not; secondly, we have reason to believe that these coordination games might be more than strictly strategic games, since they have links to real-life. To further expand this last consideration, the ongoing work by Stagnitto and colleagues is also finding some associations between coordination games and Theory of Mind measures (i.e., Silent Films and Strange Stories; Devine & Hughes, 2013; Happé, 1994), in terms of negative correlations between risking in competition and ToM scores.

Finally, the increasing ability to coordinate with others in strategic contexts, and its real-life implications might represent additional evidence in considering adolescence as a second developmental sensitive period. Indeed, since we argue that this ability might be potentially useful in solving social dilemmas and integrating into a peer-focused environment, cases in which its development might be delayed or hindered could be characterized by more maladaptive social behavior, similarly to how early childhood experiences might play a part in later psychopathologies (Green et al., 2010; C. A. Nelson & Gabard-Durnam, 2020). In the future, for instance, studies involving neurodivergent participants (which are underway), might shed more light on the relationship between strategic social coordination and ToM or general aspects of social cognition and behavior.

5. Limitations

This study presents some limitations which need to be addressed. To begin with, age was considered and analyzed in terms of groups, and thus treated as a 3 factors predictor variable, which might decrease statistical power and lead to less reliable results. This is due to the fact that initially we only had two age groups, adolescents and adults, which were only later joined by children, and because of a 3-year age gap between adolescents and adults. Naturally, the next step would be re-analyzing the data with age as a continuous variable, with due caution regarding the interpretation of results given the age gap, which could also be solved by recruiting additional high-school participants. Indeed, late adolescents might yield clearer results in terms of aversion to competition, which was only partial in our sample.

Although our sample size was large (N= 596), young adults (N= 299) were mostly female (81%), which is likely given by the fact that the adults were entirely students from the Bachelor of Psychology of the University of Pavia, which is predominantly attended by women. Together with the fact that this was a convenience sample, this might hinder the generalization of our results, which future studies could improve by recruiting a more balanced sample.

Regarding the measure of non-verbal reasoning, initially we used a MaRs version with the same level of difficulty for children, adolescents and adults, which proved to be perhaps too easy for the latter, given the evidence for ceiling effects. This might confound results regarding age-related differences between adolescents and adults in switching driven by non-verbal reasoning.

Although coordination games allow to quantify social strategic behavior across different contexts fairly reliably, they possess little explanatory power behind people's choices across different measures (mainly risk, switching and RTs), which we have tried to integrate by looking into additional measures. To obtain additional valuable information and fully harness the potential of these tasks, future steps could involve employing computational modelling, i.e., computerized simulations of people's decisions. Indeed, this method could provide more refined and deeper insights into coordination abilities, since it allows the implementation of parameters such as altruism, beliefs, reasoning etc., to understand more effectively which factor could better predict people's choices across age and how the contribution of that factor might change with development, similarly to what Sul and colleagues did in their study (2017).

Finally, we consider the answers provided by this study as a potential starting point for many other questions. Once established that adolescence is also an age of increasing strategic (in addition to social) coordination with others, we can ask ourselves how individual differences in this ability might affect different aspects of our lives, such as social relationships, work- or school-related achievement and mental health, to name a few, but also how we can improve it. Answering these questions might help us better understand what lies behind our aptitude to coordinate with others and, to some extent, what sets us apart from other species.
6. Conclusion

Our results showed that propensity for cooperation – the tendency to risk more in cooperative environments than competitive or non-social environments – is already present in late childhood but increases markedly during adolescence. It is thus adolescent developing. In contrast, aversion to competition – the tendency to display more response variability and longer decision times in competitive environments relative to cooperative or non-social environments – is not observed children, is partly observed in adolescents and is clearly displayed by adults. It is thus adolescent emergent. We also find that that aversion to competition, but not propensity for cooperation is partly explained by agerelated improvements in non-verbal reasoning ability. During an age in which people increasingly interact with their peers as opposed to their caregivers, these results reveal a new hallmark of adolescent social re-orientation: adolescence could be a sensitive age for the development of strategic abilities. Overall, by charting how different strategic abilities change during human development, this work provides new measures to track normal and atypical social development. It also sheds light on which ages might be more malleable to interventions aiming to improve social abilities during late childhood and adolescence, subsequently promoting individual well-being, as well as a more cooperative community.

7. Appendices

All the supplementary material, including R code, anonymized data and supplementary plots and analyses are available in a <u>GitHub repository</u>.

8. Bibliography

- Aboulafia-Brakha, T., Christe, B., Martory, M.-D., & Annoni, J.-M. (2011). Theory of mind tasks and executive functions: A systematic review of group studies in neurology. *Journal of Neuropsychology*, 5(1), 39–55. https://doi.org/10.1348/174866410X533660
- Adolescence, I. of M. (US) and N. R. C. (US) C. on the S. of. (2011). The Influence of Environment. In *The Science of Adolescent Risk-Taking: Workshop Report*.
 National Academies Press (US).
 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK53409/
- Akgun, S., & Araz, A. (2014). The effects of conflict resolution education on conflict resolution skills, social competence, and aggression in Turkish elementary school students. *Journal of Peace Education*, *11*(1), 30–45. https://doi.org/10.1080/17400201.2013.777898
- Alderman, E. M., Breuner, C. C., COMMITTEE ON ADOLESCENCE, Grubb, L. K., Powers, M. E., Upadhya, K., & Wallace, S. B. (2019). Unique Needs of the Adolescent. *Pediatrics*, 144(6), e20193150. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2019-3150
- Allemand, M., Steiger, A. E., & Fend, H. A. (2015). Empathy development in adolescence predicts social competencies in adulthood. *Journal of Personality*, 83(2), 229–241. https://doi.org/10.1111/jopy.12098
- Allen, M., Poggiali, D., Whitaker, K., Marshall, T. R., van Langen, J., & Kievit, R. A.
 (2021). Raincloud plots: A multi-platform tool for robust data visualization. *Wellcome Open Research*, 4, 63.
 https://doi.org/10.12688/wellcomeopenres.15191.2

- Anwyl-Irvine, A. L., Massonnié, J., Flitton, A., Kirkham, N., & Evershed, J. K. (2020).
 Gorilla in our midst: An online behavioral experiment builder. *Behavior Research Methods*, 52(1), 388–407. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13428-019-01237-x
- Archetti, M., & Scheuring, I. (2012). Review: Game theory of public goods in one-shot social dilemmas without assortment. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*, 299, 9–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtbi.2011.06.018
- Bates, D., Mächler, M., Bolker, B., & Walker, S. (2015). Fitting Linear Mixed-Effects Models Using Ime4. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 67(1), 1–48. https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v067.i01
- Beauchamp, M. H., & Anderson, V. (2010). SOCIAL: An integrative framework for the development of social skills. *Psychological Bulletin*, 136(1), 39–64. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0017768
- Beckenkamp, M. (2006). A game-theoretic taxonomy of social dilemmas. *Central European Journal of Operations Research*, 14(3), 337–353.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10100-006-0008-5
- Bethlehem, R. a. I., Seidlitz, J., White, S. R., Vogel, J. W., Anderson, K. M., Adamson, C., Adler, S., Alexopoulos, G. S., Anagnostou, E., Areces-Gonzalez, A., Astle, D. E., Auyeung, B., Ayub, M., Bae, J., Ball, G., Baron-Cohen, S., Beare, R., Bedford, S. A., Benegal, V., ... Alexander-Bloch, A. F. (2022). Brain charts for the human lifespan. *Nature*, *604*(7906), 525–533. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-022-04554-y
- Blakemore, S.-J. (2008). The social brain in adolescence. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 9(4), 267–277. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2353

Blakemore, S.-J., & Choudhury, S. (2006). Development of the adolescent brain:
Implications for executive function and social cognition. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 47(3–4), 296–312. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2006.01611.x

- Bonau, S. (2017). A Case for Behavioural Game Theory. *Journal of Game Theory*, *6*(1), 7–14.
- Boyden, J., Dawes, A., Dornan, P., & Tredoux, C. (2019). Adolescence and youth: A time of responsibility and transformation. In *Tracing the Consequences of Child Poverty* (pp. 101–132). Policy Press.
 https://bristoluniversitypressdigital.com/monochap-oa/book/9781447348368/ch006.xml
- Boyer, T. W. (2006). The development of risk-taking: A multi-perspective review. *Developmental Review*, *26*(3), 291–345. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dr.2006.05.002
- Bruch, E., & Feinberg, F. (2017). Decision-Making Processes in Social Contexts.
 Annual Review of Sociology, 43(Volume 43, 2017), 207–227.
 https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-soc-060116-053622
- Buchanan, C. M., & Bruton, J. H. (2016). Storm and Stress. In R. J. R. Levesque (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of Adolescence* (pp. 1–12). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-32132-5_111-2

Buchanan, C. M., & Hughes, J. L. (2009). Construction of Social Reality During Early Adolescence: Can Expecting Storm and Stress Increase Real or Perceived Storm and Stress? *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, *19*(2), 261–285. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-7795.2009.00596.x

- Burt, K. B., Obradović, J., Long, J. D., & Masten, A. S. (2008). The interplay of social competence and psychopathology over 20 years: Testing transactional and cascade models. *Child Development*, 79(2), 359–374. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2007.01130.x
- Camerer, C. (1999). Ambiguity-Aversion and Non-Additive Probability: In L. Luini (Ed.), Uncertain Decisions: Bridging Theory and Experiments (pp. 53–79).
 Springer US. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4615-5083-9_3
- Camerer, C. F. (2003). *Behavioral game theory: Experiments in strategic interaction* (pp. xv, 550). Russell Sage Foundation.
- Camerer, C. F., & Fehr, E. (2006). When Does "Economic Man" Dominate Social Behavior? *Science*, *311*(5757), 47–52. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1110600
- Camerer, C., & Lovallo, D. (1999). Overconfidence and Excess Entry: An Experimental Approach. American Economic Review, 89(1), 306–318. https://doi.org/10.1257/aer.89.1.306
- Caputi, M., Lecce, S., Pagnin, A., & Banerjee, R. (2012). Longitudinal effects of theory of mind on later peer relations: The role of prosocial behavior. *Developmental Psychology*, 48(1), 257–270. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0025402
- Casey, B. J., Getz, S., & Galvan, A. (2008). The adolescent brain. *Developmental Review*, 28(1), 62–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dr.2007.08.003
- Centifanti, L. C. M., Modecki, K. L., MacLellan, S., & Gowling, H. (2016). Driving Under the Influence of Risky Peers: An Experimental Study of Adolescent Risk Taking. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, *26*(1), 207–222. https://doi.org/10.1111/jora.12187

Chein, J., Albert, D., O'Brien, L., Uckert, K., & Steinberg, L. (2011). Peers increase adolescent risk taking by enhancing activity in the brain's reward circuitry. *Developmental Science*, *14*(2), F1–F10. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7687.2010.01035.x

Chierchia, G., & Coricelli, G. (2015). The impact of perceived similarity on tacit coordination: Propensity for matching and aversion to decoupling choices. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 9.

https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnbeh.2015.00202

- Chierchia, G., Fuhrmann, D., Knoll, L. J., Pi-Sunyer, B. P., Sakhardande, A. L., & Blakemore, S.-J. (2019). The matrix reasoning item bank (MaRs-IB): Novel, open-access abstract reasoning items for adolescents and adults. *Royal Society Open Science*, 6(10), 190232. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsos.190232
- Chierchia, G., Nagel, R., & Coricelli, G. (2018). "Betting on nature" or "betting on others": Anti-coordination induces uniquely high levels of entropy. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-21962-1
- Chierchia, G., Piera Pi-Sunyer, B., & Blakemore, S.-J. (2020). Prosocial Influence and Opportunistic Conformity in Adolescents and Young Adults. *Psychological Science*, 31(12), 1585–1601. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797620957625
- Chierchia, G., Soukupová, M., Kilford, E. J., Griffin, C., Leung, J., Palminteri, S., & Blakemore, S.-J. (2023). Confirmatory reinforcement learning changes with age during adolescence. *Developmental Science*, 26(3), e13330. https://doi.org/10.1111/desc.13330

- Chierchia, G., Tufano, F., & Coricelli, G. (2020). The differential impact of friendship on cooperative and competitive coordination. *Theory and Decision*, 89(4), 423– 452. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11238-020-09763-3
- Chong, J.-K., Camerer, C., & Ho, T. (2005). *Cognitive Hierarchy: A Limited Thinking Theory in Games*. https://doi.org/10.1007/0-387-24244-9_9
- Choudhury, S., Blakemore, S.-J., & Charman, T. (2006). Social cognitive development during adolescence. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, 1(3), 165–174. https://doi.org/10.1093/scan/nsl024
- Ciranka, S., & van den Bos, W. (2021). Adolescent risk-taking in the context of exploration and social influence. *Developmental Review*, 61, 100979. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dr.2021.100979
- Cooper, R. W., DeJong, D. V., Forsythe, R., & Ross, T. W. (1990). Selection Criteria in Coordination Games: Some Experimental Results. *The American Economic Review*, 80(1), 218–233.
- Crone, E. A., & Dahl, R. E. (2012). Understanding adolescence as a period of social– affective engagement and goal flexibility. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 13(9), Article 9. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn3313
- Crone, E. A., & Fuligni, A. J. (2020). Self and Others in Adolescence. Annual Review of Psychology, 71(Volume 71, 2020), 447–469. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevpsych-010419-050937
- Dawes, R. M. (1992). Social Dilemmas, Economic Self-Interest, and Evolutionary Theory. In *Morality, Rationality and Efficiency*. Routledge.
- Defoe, I. N., Rap, S. E., & Romer, D. (2022). Adolescents' own views on their risk behaviors, and the potential effects of being labeled as risk-takers: A

commentary and review. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *13*. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.945775

- Devine, R. T., & Hughes, C. (2013). Silent films and strange stories: Theory of mind, gender, and social experiences in middle childhood. *Child Development*, 84(3), 989–1003. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12017
- Dumontheil, I., Apperly, I. A., & Blakemore, S.-J. (2010). Online usage of theory of mind continues to develop in late adolescence. *Developmental Science*, 13(2), 331–338. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7687.2009.00888.x
- Dumontheil, I., Hassan, B., Gilbert, S. J., & Blakemore, S.-J. (2010). Development of the Selection and Manipulation of Self-Generated Thoughts in Adolescence. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 30(22), 7664–7671. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1375-10.2010
- Englund, M. M., Levy, A. K., Hyson, D. M., & Sroufe, L. A. (2000). Adolescent Social Competence: Effectiveness in a Group Setting. *Child Development*, 71(4), 1049– 1060. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8624.00208
- Ernst, M., Torrisi, S., Balderston, N., Grillon, C., & Hale, E. A. (2015). fMRI Functional Connectivity Applied to Adolescent Neurodevelopment*. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, *11*(Volume 11, 2015), 361–377. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-032814-112753
- Fehr, E., & Schmidt, K. M. (1999). A Theory of Fairness, Competition, and Cooperation*. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 114(3), 817–868. https://doi.org/10.1162/003355399556151
- Fett, A.-K. J., Shergill, S. S., Gromann, P. M., Dumontheil, I., Blakemore, S.-J., Yakub,F., & Krabbendam, L. (2014). Trust and social reciprocity in adolescence A

matter of perspective-taking. *Journal of Adolescence*, *37*(2), 175–184. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2013.11.011

- Figner, B., Mackinlay, R. J., Wilkening, F., & Weber, E. U. (2009). Affective and deliberative processes in risky choice: Age differences in risk taking in the Columbia Card Task. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition*, 35(3), 709–730. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0014983
- Fox, C., & Weber, M. (2002). Ambiguity Aversion, Comparative Ignorance, and Decision Context. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 88, 476–498. https://doi.org/10.1006/obhd.2001.2990
- Fox, J., & Weisberg, S. (2019). An R Companion to Applied Regression (Third). Sage. https://socialsciences.mcmaster.ca/jfox/Books/Companion/
- Fuhrmann, D., Casey, C. S., Speekenbrink, M., & Blakemore, S.-J. (2019). Social exclusion affects working memory performance in young adolescent girls. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, 40, 100718. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dcn.2019.100718
- Fuhrmann, D., Knoll, L. J., & Blakemore, S.-J. (2015). Adolescence as a Sensitive Period of Brain Development. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 19(10), 558–566. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2015.07.008
- Galván, A. (2013). The Teenage Brain: Sensitivity to Rewards. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 22(2), 88–93.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721413480859

Gardner, M., & Steinberg, L. (2005). Peer Influence on Risk Taking, Risk Preference, and Risky Decision Making in Adolescence and Adulthood: An Experimental Study. *Developmental Psychology*, *41*(4), 625–635. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.41.4.625

- Genc, S., Raven, E. P., Drakesmith, M., Blakemore, S.-J., & Jones, D. K. (2023). Novel insights into axon diameter and myelin content in late childhood and adolescence. *Cerebral Cortex*, 33(10), 6435–6448. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhac515
- Gintis, H. (2011). The future of behavioral game theory. *Mind & Society*, *10*(2), 97–102. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11299-011-0091-8
- Goldstick Jason E., Cunningham Rebecca M., & Carter Patrick M. (2022). Current Causes of Death in Children and Adolescents in the United States. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *386*(20), 1955–1956.

https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMc2201761

- Gómez-López, M., Viejo, C., Romera, E. M., & Ortega-Ruiz, R. (2022). Psychological Well-Being and Social Competence During Adolescence: Longitudinal Association Between the Two Phenomena. *Child Indicators Research*, 15(3), 1043–1061. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12187-021-09899-w
- Green, J. G., McLaughlin, K. A., Berglund, P. A., Gruber, M. J., Sampson, N. A.,
 Zaslavsky, A. M., & Kessler, R. C. (2010). Childhood Adversities and Adult
 Psychiatric Disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication I:
 Associations With First Onset of DSM-IV Disorders. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 67(2), 113–123. https://doi.org/10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2009.186
- Grydeland, H., Vértes, P. E., Váša, F., Romero-Garcia, R., Whitaker, K., Alexander-Bloch, A. F., Bjørnerud, A., Patel, A. X., Sederevičius, D., Tamnes, C. K., Westlye, L. T., White, S. R., Walhovd, K. B., Fjell, A. M., & Bullmore, E. T.

(2019). Waves of Maturation and Senescence in Micro-structural MRI Markers of Human Cortical Myelination over the Lifespan. *Cerebral Cortex*, *29*(3), 1369–1381. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhy330

- Gummerum, M., Hanoch, Y., & Keller, M. (2008). When Child Development Meets
 Economic Game Theory: An Interdisciplinary Approach to Investigating Social
 Development. *Human Development*, 51(4), 235–261.
 https://doi.org/10.1159/000151494
- Gummerum, M., López-Pérez, B., Van Dijk, E., & Van Dillen, L. F. (2020). When punishment is emotion-driven: Children's, adolescents', and adults' costly punishment of unfair allocations. *Social Development*, 29(1), 126–142. https://doi.org/10.1111/sode.12387
- Güroğlu, B., van den Bos, W., & Crone, E. A. (2009). Fairness considerations:
 Increasing understanding of intentionality during adolescence. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, *104*(4), 398–409.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.2009.07.002
- Güroğlu, B., van den Bos, W., & Crone, E. A. (2014). Sharing and giving across adolescence: An experimental study examining the development of prosocial behavior. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *5*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00291
- Gutenbrunner, L., & Wagner, U. (2016). Perspective-taking techniques in the mediation of intergroup conflict. *Peace and Conflict: Journal of Peace Psychology*, 22(4), 298–305. https://doi.org/10.1037/pac0000184
- Happé, F. G. (1994). An advanced test of theory of mind: Understanding of story characters' thoughts and feelings by able autistic, mentally handicapped, and

normal children and adults. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 24(2), 129–154. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02172093

- Hartung, J., Engelhardt, L. E., Thibodeaux, M. L., Harden, K. P., & Tucker-Drob, E. M. (2020). Developmental transformations in the structure of executive functions. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 189, 104681. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.2019.104681
- Heinemann, F., Nagel, R., & Ockenfels, P. (2009). Measuring Strategic Uncertainty in Coordination Games. *The Review of Economic Studies*, 76(1), 181–221. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-937X.2008.00512.x
- Henrich, J., Boyd, R., Bowles, S., Camerer, C., Fehr, E., Gintis, H., McElreath, R., Alvard, M., Barr, A., Ensminger, J., Henrich, N. S., Hill, K., Gil-White, F., Gurven, M., Marlowe, F. W., Patton, J. Q., & Tracer, D. (2005). "Economic man" in cross-cultural perspective: Behavioral experiments in 15 small-scale societies. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 28(6), 795–815. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0140525X05000142
- Herrmann, E., Call, J., Hernàndez-Lloreda, M. V., Hare, B., & Tomasello, M. (2007).
 Humans Have Evolved Specialized Skills of Social Cognition: The Cultural Intelligence Hypothesis. *Science*, *317*(5843), 1360–1366.
 https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1146282
- Hoops, D., & Flores, C. (2017). Making Dopamine Connections in Adolescence. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 40(12), 709–719. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2017.09.004
- House, B. R., Kanngiesser, P., Barrett, H. C., Yilmaz, S., Smith, A. M., Sebastian-Enesco, C., Erut, A., & Silk, J. B. (2020). Social norms and cultural diversity in the development of third-party punishment. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B:*

Biological Sciences, 287(1925), 20192794.

https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2019.2794

- Huttenlocher, P. R., & Dabholkar, A. S. (1997). Regional differences in synaptogenesis in human cerebral cortex. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 387(2), 167–178. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1096-9861(19971020)387:2<167::AID-CNE1>3.0.CO;2-Z
- Kelsey, J., & Simons, J. (2014). [Editorial] The challenges of adolescence. Journal of Child Health Care. https://journals.sagepub.com/pbassets/cmscontent/CHC/The%20Challenges%20of%20adolescence-1470131013733.pdf
- Keysar, B., Barr, D. J., Balin, J. A., & Brauner, J. S. (2000). Taking Perspective in Conversation: The Role of Mutual Knowledge in Comprehension. *Psychological Science*, 11(1), 32–38. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9280.00211
- Kilford, E. J., Garrett, E., & Blakemore, S.-J. (2016). The development of social cognition in adolescence: An integrated perspective. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 70, 106–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.08.016

Klindt, D., Devaine, M., & Daunizeau, J. (2017). Does the way we read others' mind change over the lifespan? Insights from a massive web poll of cognitive skills from childhood to late adulthood. *Cortex*, 86, 205–215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2016.09.009

Knight, F. (1921). *Risk, uncertainty and profit*. https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?title=Risk,+uncertainty+and+profit& author=FH+Knight&publication_year=1921& Knoll, L. J., Fuhrmann, D., Sakhardande, A. L., Stamp, F., Speekenbrink, M., &
Blakemore, S.-J. (2016). A Window of Opportunity for Cognitive Training in
Adolescence. *Psychological Science*, *27*(12), 1620–1631.
https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797616671327

 Knoll, L. J., Magis-Weinberg, L., Speekenbrink, M., & Blakemore, S.-J. (2015). Social Influence on Risk Perception During Adolescence. *Psychological Science*, 26(5), 583–592. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797615569578

Konrad, K., Firk, C., & Uhlhaas, P. J. (2013). Brain Development During Adolescence. Deutsches Ärzteblatt International, 110(25), 425–431. https://doi.org/10.3238/arztebl.2013.0425

- Krogsrud, S. K., Mowinckel, A. M., Sederevicius, D., Vidal-Piñeiro, D., Amlien, I. K., Wang, Y., Sørensen, Ø., Walhovd, K. B., & Fjell, A. M. (2021). Relationships between apparent cortical thickness and working memory across the lifespan—
 Effects of genetics and socioeconomic status. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, *51*, 100997. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dcn.2021.100997
- Krueger, J. I., Heck, P. R., Evans, A. M., & DiDonato, T. E. (2020). Social game theory: Preferences, perceptions, and choices. *European Review of Social Psychology*, 31(1), 222–253. https://doi.org/10.1080/10463283.2020.1778249
- Langdon, J. H. (2022). Evolution of the Brain. In J. H. Langdon (Ed.), *Human Evolution: Bones, Cultures, and Genes* (pp. 321–358). Springer International
 Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-14157-7 12
- Larsen, B., & Luna, B. (2018). Adolescence as a neurobiological critical period for the development of higher-order cognition. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 94, 179–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2018.09.005

- Laursen, B., Finkelstein, B. D., & Betts, N. T. (2001). A Developmental Meta-Analysis of Peer Conflict Resolution. *Developmental Review*, 21(4), 423–449. https://doi.org/10.1006/drev.2000.0531
- Lebel, C., & Beaulieu, C. (2011). Longitudinal development of human brain wiring continues from childhood into adulthood. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, *31*(30), 10937–10947. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5302-10.2011
- Lee, V., & Harris, L. (2013). How social cognition can inform social decision making. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2013.00259
- Lenth, R. V. (2023). *emmeans: Estimated Marginal Means, aka Least-Squares Means*. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=emmeans
- Loewenstein, G., Rick, S., & Cohen, J. D. (2008). Neuroeconomics. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 59(1), 647–672.

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.59.103006.093710

- Logue, S., Chein, J., Gould, T., Holliday, E., & Steinberg, L. (2014). Adolescent mice, unlike adults, consume more alcohol in the presence of peers than alone. *Developmental Science*, 17(1), 79–85. https://doi.org/10.1111/desc.12101
- Mason, C. (2009). The Development of Developmental Neuroscience. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 29(41), 12735–12747.

https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4648-09.2009

Melis, A. P. (2013). The evolutionary roots of human collaboration: Coordination and sharing of resources. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *1299*(1), 68–76. https://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.12263

- Mills, K. L., Goddings, A.-L., Herting, M. M., Meuwese, R., Blakemore, S.-J., Crone, E. A., Dahl, R. E., Güroğlu, B., Raznahan, A., Sowell, E. R., & Tamnes, C. K. (2016). Structural brain development between childhood and adulthood: Convergence across four longitudinal samples. *NeuroImage*, *141*, 273–281. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2016.07.044
- Mohr, P. N. C., Biele, G., & Heekeren, H. R. (2010). Neural Processing of Risk. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 30(19), 6613–6619. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0003-10.2010
- Molleman, L., Ciranka, S., & van den Bos, W. (2022). Social influence in adolescence as a double-edged sword. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 289(1977), 20220045. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2022.0045
- Morningstar, M., Grannis, C., Mattson, W. I., & Nelson, E. E. (2019). Associations
 Between Adolescents' Social Re-orientation Toward Peers Over Caregivers and
 Neural Response to Teenage Faces. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 13.
 https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2019.00108
- Myerson, R. B. (1991). *Game Theory: Analysis of Conflict*. Harvard University Press. https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctvjsf522
- Nagel, R., Brovelli, A., Heinemann, F., & Coricelli, G. (2018). Neural mechanisms mediating degrees of strategic uncertainty. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, 13(1), 52–62. https://doi.org/10.1093/scan/nsx131
- Nelson, C. A., & Gabard-Durnam, L. J. (2020). Early Adversity and Critical Periods: Neurodevelopmental Consequences of Violating the Expectable Environment. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 43(3), 133–143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2020.01.002

- Nelson, E. E., Leibenluft, E., McCLURE, E. B., & Pine, D. S. (2005). The social reorientation of adolescence: A neuroscience perspective on the process and its relation to psychopathology. *Psychological Medicine*, *35*(2), 163–174. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291704003915
- Orben, A., Tomova, L., & Blakemore, S.-J. (2020). The effects of social deprivation on adolescent development and mental health. *The Lancet. Child & Adolescent Health*, 4(8), 634–640. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2352-4642(20)30186-3
- Padilla-Walker, L. M., Dyer, W. J., Yorgason, J. B., Fraser, A. M., & Coyne, S. M.
 (2015). Adolescents' Prosocial Behavior Toward Family, Friends, and Strangers: A Person-Centered Approach. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 25(1), 135– 150. https://doi.org/10.1111/jora.12102
- Paus, T. (2010). Growth of white matter in the adolescent brain: Myelin or axon? *Brain* and Cognition, 72(1), 26–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandc.2009.06.002
- Paus, T., Keshavan, M., & Giedd, J. N. (2008). Why do many psychiatric disorders emerge during adolescence? *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 9(12), Article 12. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2513
- Pellicano, E. (2007). Links between theory of mind and executive function in young children with autism: Clues to developmental primacy. *Developmental Psychology*, 43(4), 974–990. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.43.4.974
- Petanjek, Z., Judaš, M., Šimić, G., Rašin, M. R., Uylings, H. B. M., Rakic, P., & Kostović, I. (2011). Extraordinary neoteny of synaptic spines in the human prefrontal cortex. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108(32), 13281–13286. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1105108108

- Platt, M. L., & Huettel, S. A. (2008). Risky business: The neuroeconomics of decision making under uncertainty. *Nature Neuroscience*, 11(4), 398–403. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn2062
- Premack, D., & Woodruff, G. (1978). Does the chimpanzee have a theory of mind? Behavioral and Brain Sciences, 1(4), 515–526. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0140525X00076512
- R Core Team. (2023). *R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing*. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. https://www.R-project.org/
- Raihani, N. (2021). The social instinct: How cooperation shaped the world (First U.S. edition). St. Martin's Press.
- Rapoport, A., & Chammah, A. M. (1965). Prisoner's Dilemma: A Study in Conflict and Cooperation. University of Michigan Press.
- Raven, J., & Raven, J. (2003). Raven Progressive Matrices. In Handbook of nonverbal assessment (pp. 223–237). Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4615-0153-4_11
- Reiter, A. M. F., Moutoussis, M., Vanes, L., Kievit, R., Bullmore, E. T., Goodyer, I. M., Fonagy, P., Jones, P. B., & Dolan, R. J. (2021). Preference uncertainty accounts for developmental effects on susceptibility to peer influence in adolescence. *Nature Communications*, *12*(1), 3823. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-23671-2
- Reiter, A. M. F., Suzuki, S., O'Doherty, J. P., Li, S.-C., & Eppinger, B. (2019). Risk contagion by peers affects learning and decision-making in adolescents. *Journal* of Experimental Psychology. General, 148(9), 1494–1504. https://doi.org/10.1037/xge0000512

Romer, D., Reyna, V. F., & Satterthwaite, T. D. (2017). Beyond stereotypes of adolescent risk taking: Placing the adolescent brain in developmental context. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, 27, 19–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dcn.2017.07.007

Romppanen, E., Korhonen, M., Salmelin, R. K., Puura, K., & Luoma, I. (2021). The significance of adolescent social competence for mental health in young adulthood. *Mental Health & Prevention*, 21, 200198. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mhp.2021.200198

- RStudio Team. (2020). *RStudio: Integrated Development Environment for R*. RStudio, PBC. http://www.rstudio.com/
- Sanfey, A. G. (2007). Social Decision-Making: Insights from Game Theory and Neuroscience. *Science*, 318(5850), 598–602. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1142996
- Santos, E., & Noggle, C. A. (2011). Synaptic Pruning. In S. Goldstein & J. A. Naglieri (Eds.), *Encyclopedia of Child Behavior and Development* (pp. 1464–1465).
 Springer US. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-79061-9_2856
- Schreuders, E., Braams, B. R., Blankenstein, N. E., Peper, J. S., Güroğlu, B., & Crone,
 E. A. (2018). Contributions of Reward Sensitivity to Ventral Striatum Activity
 Across Adolescence and Early Adulthood. *Child Development*, *89*(3), 797–810.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.13056
- Sebastian, C., Viding, E., Williams, K. D., & Blakemore, S.-J. (2010). Social brain development and the affective consequences of ostracism in adolescence. *Brain* and Cognition, 72(1), 134–145. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandc.2009.06.008

- Sijtsma, H., Lee, N. C., Braams, B. R., Hollarek, M., Walsh, R. J., van Buuren, M., & Krabbendam, L. (2023). The development of adolescent trust behavior. *Journal* of Experimental Child Psychology, 231, 105653. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.2023.105653
- Solmi, M., Radua, J., Olivola, M., Croce, E., Soardo, L., Salazar de Pablo, G., Il Shin,
 J., Kirkbride, J. B., Jones, P., Kim, J. H., Kim, J. Y., Carvalho, A. F., Seeman, M.
 V., Correll, C. U., & Fusar-Poli, P. (2022). Age at onset of mental disorders
 worldwide: Large-scale meta-analysis of 192 epidemiological studies. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 27(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-021-01161-7
- Steinbeis, N., Bernhardt, B. C., & Singer, T. (2012). Impulse Control and Underlying Functions of the Left DLPFC Mediate Age-Related and Age-Independent Individual Differences in Strategic Social Behavior. *Neuron*, 73(5), 1040–1051. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2011.12.027
- Steinberg, L., Icenogle, G., Shulman, E. P., Breiner, K., Chein, J., Bacchini, D., Chang, L., Chaudhary, N., Giunta, L. D., Dodge, K. A., Fanti, K. A., Lansford, J. E., Malone, P. S., Oburu, P., Pastorelli, C., Skinner, A. T., Sorbring, E., Tapanya, S., Tirado, L. M. U., ... Takash, H. M. S. (2018). Around the world, adolescence is a time of heightened sensation seeking and immature self-regulation. *Developmental Science*, *21*(2), e12532. https://doi.org/10.1111/desc.12532
- Sul, S., Güroğlu, B., Crone, E. A., & Chang, L. J. (2017). Medial prefrontal cortical thinning mediates shifts in other-regarding preferences during adolescence. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 8510. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-08692-6
- Sumter, S. R., Bokhorst, C. L., Steinberg, L., & Westenberg, P. M. (2009). The developmental pattern of resistance to peer influence in adolescence: Will the

teenager ever be able to resist? *Journal of Adolescence*, *32*(4), 1009–1021. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2008.08.010

- Surian, L., Caldi, S., & Sperber, D. (2007). Attribution of Beliefs by 13-Month-Old Infants. *Psychological Science*, 18(7), 580–586. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9280.2007.01943.x
- Sutter, M., Zoller, C., & Glätzle-Rützler, D. (2019). Economic behavior of children and adolescents – A first survey of experimental economics results. *European Economic Review*, 111, 98–121.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroecorev.2018.09.004

- Symeonidou, I., Dumontheil, I., Chow, W.-Y., & Breheny, R. (2016). Development of online use of theory of mind during adolescence: An eye-tracking study. *Journal* of Experimental Child Psychology, 149, 81–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.2015.11.007
- Tamnes, C. K., Herting, M. M., Goddings, A.-L., Meuwese, R., Blakemore, S.-J., Dahl, R. E., Güroğlu, B., Raznahan, A., Sowell, E. R., Crone, E. A., & Mills, K. L. (2017). Development of the Cerebral Cortex across Adolescence: A Multisample Study of Inter-Related Longitudinal Changes in Cortical Volume, Surface Area, and Thickness. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *37*(12), 3402–3412. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3302-16.2017

Tamnes, C. K., Østby, Y., Walhovd, K. B., Westlye, L. T., Due-Tønnessen, P., & Fjell, A.
M. (2010). Neuroanatomical correlates of executive functions in children and adolescents: A magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) study of cortical thickness. *Neuropsychologia*, 48(9), 2496–2508.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2010.04.024

- Tamnes, C. K., Overbye, K., Ferschmann, L., Fjell, A. M., Walhovd, K. B., Blakemore, S.-J., & Dumontheil, I. (2018). Social Perspective Taking Is Associated With Self-Reported Prosocial Behavior and Regional Cortical Thickness Across Adolescence. *Developmental Psychology*, *54*(9), 1745–1757. https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0000541
- Telzer, E. H., Dai, J., Capella, J. J., Sobrino, M., & Garrett, S. L. (2022). Challenging stereotypes of teens: Reframing adolescence as window of opportunity. *American Psychologist*, 77(9), 1067–1081. https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0001109
- Tomasello, M. (2022). The coordination of attention and action in great apes and humans. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 377(1859), 20210093. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2021.0093
- Tymula, A., Rosenberg Belmaker, L. A., Roy, A. K., Ruderman, L., Manson, K., Glimcher, P. W., & Levy, I. (2012). *Adolescents' risk-taking behavior is driven by tolerance to ambiguity* (world). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1207144109
- van de Groep, S., Zanolie, K., Burke, S. M., Brandner, P., Fuligni, A. J., & Crone, E. A. (2022). Growing in generosity? The effects of giving magnitude, target, and audience on the neural signature of giving in adolescence. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, 54, 101084. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dcn.2022.101084
- van den Bos, W., van Dijk, E., Westenberg, M., Rombouts, S. A. R. B., & Crone, E. A.
 (2011). Changing Brains, Changing Perspectives: The Neurocognitive Development of Reciprocity. *Psychological Science*, *22*(1), 60–70. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797610391102
- Van Huyck, J. B., Battalio, R. C., & Beil, R. O. (1991). Strategic Uncertainty, Equilibrium Selection, and Coordination Failure in Average Opinion Games*.

The Quarterly Journal of Economics, *106*(3), 885–910. https://doi.org/10.2307/2937932

- Warneken, F., & Tomasello, M. (2006). Altruistic Helping in Human Infants and Young Chimpanzees. Science, 311(5765), 1301–1303. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1121448
- Wellman, H. M., Cross, D., & Watson, J. (2001). Meta-Analysis of Theory-of-Mind Development: The Truth about False Belief. *Child Development*, 72(3), 655– 684. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8624.00304
- Wendelken, C., Ferrer, E., Ghetti, S., Bailey, S. K., Cutting, L., & Bunge, S. A. (2017).
 Frontoparietal Structural Connectivity in Childhood Predicts Development of Functional Connectivity and Reasoning Ability: A Large-Scale Longitudinal Investigation. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 37(35), 8549–8558.

https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3726-16.2017

- Westhoff, B., Molleman, L., Viding, E., van den Bos, W., & van Duijvenvoorde, A. C.
 K. (2020). Developmental asymmetries in learning to adjust to cooperative and uncooperative environments. *Scientific Reports*, *10*(1), Article 1.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-78546-1
- Willoughby, T., Heffer, T., Good, M., & Magnacca, C. (2021). Is adolescence a time of heightened risk taking? An overview of types of risk-taking behaviors across age groups. *Developmental Review*, *61*, 100980. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dr.2021.100980
- Zhang, Z. (2022). Functionally similar yet distinct neural mechanisms underlie different choice behaviors: ALE meta-analyses of decision-making under risk in

adolescents and adults. Developmental Review, 66, 101052.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dr.2022.101052

- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Collins, W. A. (2006). Autonomy Development During Adolescence. In *Blackwell Handbook of Adolescence* (pp. 174–204). John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470756607.ch9
- Zizzo, D. J., & Tan, J. H. W. (2002). Game Harmony as a Predictor of Cooperation in 2 x 2 Games. *Economics Series Working Papers*, Article 117. https://ideas.repec.org//p/oxf/wpaper/117.html
- Zorowitz, S., Chierchia, G., Blakemore, S.-J., & Daw, N. D. (2023). An item response theory analysis of the matrix reasoning item bank (MaRs-IB). *Behavior Research Methods*. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13428-023-02067-8